TILBURG LAW SCHOOL

ENHANCEMENT OF PRIVATE PARTICIPATION IN INFRASTRUCTURE THROUGH PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS IN UGANDA

By Elong Elizabeth ANR 244394



Dissertation submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Award of Master of Laws Degree, LLM International Business Law

(30th August 2018)

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Joseph. A. McCahery

ABSTRACT

Infrastructure development is one of the essential factors needed to spur economic growth and alleviate poverty in Sub-Saharan Africa. The region requires an infrastructure investment of approximately USD 100 billion to fill the Infrastructure gap. Uganda is among the least developed countries in the world and has a broader infrastructure gap compared to other countries in the Sub-Sahara like South Africa, Nigeria, Kenya, and Ghana. Uganda has a financing gap of approximately USD 0.4 million per annum and needs an investment of about USD 1.4 billion per year in the medium-term to fill the infrastructure gap. Due to budgetary and fiscal restraints caused by low revenues and low tax collections, the public sector is unable to fund all investments needed. One alternative source of funding that other African countries like South Africa and Nigeria have adopted is Public-Private Partnerships (PPPs).

PPPs are projects for which the public sector contracts the private sector to design, build, finance, and operate for a definite period after which, the infrastructure asset reverts to the public sector. PPPs are heavily dependent on the active involvement of the private sector to attract funding, expertise, quality output, and timely project delivery; which the public sector lacks. However, in Uganda, the private sector, especially institutional investors, have not been fully engaged in PPPs for fear of the risks involved in these projects.

The purpose of this study was to examine what mechanisms the government of Uganda could adopt to enhance private investment in infrastructure through PPPs. To address this issue, we canvassed existing literature to analyze what the preconditions of successful PPPs were. We compared the research with the institutional structure and economic environment in Uganda to find out whether they could support a robust PPP regime. We also surveyed Ugandan investors to discover what challenges they faced with infrastructure investment.

From the literature review and survey, we found that the most significant barriers to private investment in infrastructure in Uganda were: i) lack of transparency in procurement and bidding processes; ii) problems with land acquisition; iii) lack of coordination between departments in the public sector; iv) limited options of financing instruments; v) unattractive expected returns on investment; and vi) lack of government guarantee.

The findings suggest the need for public sector reforms in the governance structures, innovation with financing structures and risk mitigation strategies. These gaps can be addressed by adopting the following recommendations: a) an accessible platform for the disclosure of important information about PPP projects; b) government infrastructure bonds with a diaspora component to increase the financial products on the market and widen the investor base; c) establish co-investment platforms to expand the investment capacity of domestic investors; and d) create a guarantee fund to mitigate contingencies in PPP projects.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my father, Prof. John Christopher Oloa. and my mother, Ms. Hellen Amolo Eteru. Thank you for giving me the gift of education and always being there for me in every situation.

I also dedicate this scholarship to Nuffic Scholarship Committee that supported me all through my Masters Programme.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am deeply grateful to the Almighty God for holding me firm throughout the academic process and helping me graduate successfully.

My utmost appreciation and gratitude to Prof. Dr. Joseph. A. McCahery without whom this dissertation would not have been possible. I thank you for the invaluable knowledge shared, guidance and patience throughout the preparation of this dissertation.

I am grateful to Ms. Patricia Gil-Lemstra, Ms. Ivona Skultetyova and Ms. Miranda Kappe who all sacrificed their time amidst the busy schedules to share knowledge, offer guidance and counselling whenever needed.

Sincere gratitude to members of my family Counsel Nicholas Ecimu, Ms. Jane Ajilo, Ms. Lillian Adongo Gloria and Ms. Rufina Barigo who have supported me emotionally, spiritually and intellectually in my pursuit for academic excellence. I cannot forget my brothers and sisters for their love and support.

I extend sincere gratitude to all the respondents who took off time to participate in my survey despite their very busy schedules.

I thank my friends Steffi Grace Darmawan, Ha Nguyen and Stephen Dradenya with whom I have shared this enriching journey since the beginning of the academic year. You have been the best support system I ever needed. I also thank my friends in Uganda for their words of encouragement during the tough seasons.

Appreciation to the Management of the Inspectorate of Government-Uganda whose support was much needed for my career development.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPT	ER C	ONE: CONTEXT OF STUDY	.1		
1.1.	.1. Introduction1				
1.2.	Purpose of the study and research questions				
1.3.	1.3. Methodology and Limitations				
CHAPT	ER T	WO. LITERATURE REVIEW	. 6		
2.1.	Intr	oduction	6		
2.2.	Pub	lic- Sector Procurement	. 7		
2.2.1	1.	Benefits and Limitations of Conventional Public-sector Procurement	. 8		
2.2.2	2.	Summary	10		
2.3.	Priv	atization	11		
2.4.	Pub	lic-Private Partnerships	12		
2.4.1	1.	Types of Public-Private Partnerships	14		
2.4.2	2.	Advantages and disadvantages of PPPs	17		
2.4.3	3.	Preconditions for a successful PPP regime	20		
2.5.	Barr	riers to Active Investor Participation in PPP Projects	27		
2.5.1	1.	The scarcity of well-structured bankable infrastructure projects	28		
2.5.2	2.	Political risks	29		
2.5.3	3.	Legal and regulatory frameworks	29		
2.5.4	4.	Lack of risk mitigation strategies	30		
2.6.	Sum	ımary	31		
CHAPT	ER 3	. PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS IN UGANDA	33		
3.1.	Intr	oduction	33		
3.2.	Pub	lic-Private Partnerships in Uganda	33		
3.3.	Sum	mary	40		
CHAPT	ER F	OUR. SURVEY ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION	42		
4.1.	Intr	oduction	42		
CHAPT	ER F	IVE. RECOMMENDATIONS	57		
5.1.	Intr	oduction	57		
5.2.	Rec	ommendations	58		
5.2.1	1.	Governance	58		
5.2.2	2.	Financing vehicles and instruments	50		
5.2.3	3.	Risk mitigation	58		
CHAPT	CHAPTER SIX. CONCLUSION				
APPENI	DIX	I	77		
REFERENCES					

INDEX

BOXES

Box 5.1	Nigeria's PPP Disclosure Framework
Box 5.2	Infrastructure Bond with Kenyan Diaspora Component
Box 5.3	Co-investment platform by OMERS
Box 5.4	Case study of Indonesia Infrastructure Guarantee Fund

FIGURES

Figure 2.1	PPP Structure
Figure 2.2	Infrastructure Challenges and How PPPs may help
Figure 2.3	Elements of a PPP Monitoring and Evaluation System
Figure 2.4	Hidden cost of utility inefficiency

- Figure 4.1 Knowledge of PPI
- Greenfield vs Brownfield projects Figure 4.2
- Figure 4.3 Mega vs Smaller projects

TABLES

Table 2.1	Differences between	Public-Sector Procurem	ent and PPPs
-----------	---------------------	------------------------	--------------

- Table 2.2 Differences between Privatization and PPPs
- Table 2.3 The Different PPP Structures
- Table 2.4 **PSC** Calculation
- Table 3.1 Priority Public-Private Partnership Projects
- Table 4.1 Respondents' employers
- Table 4.2 Determining factors for private sector investment at country level
- Table 4.2.1 Three most relevant determining factors at country level
- Table 4.3 Determining factors for private sector investment at project level
- Table 4.3.1 Three most relevant determining factors at project level
- Table 4.4 Investment barriers at project level
- Table 4.4.1 Three most important barriers at project level
- Table 4.5 Determinants of Infrastructure Financing
- Table 4.5.1 Barriers to Infrastructure Financing
- Table 5.1 Classification of Risk Linked to Infrastructure Assets

ABBREVIATIONS

BOOT	Build Own Operate Transfer
BOT	Build Operate Transfer
BTO	Build Transfer Operate
CBR	Central Bank Rate
CIS	Collective Investment Scheme
CMA	Capital Markets Authority
DBFO	Design Build Finance Operate
DBJ	Development Bank of Japan
FDIs	Financial Development Institutions
FISMS	The Fixed Income Securities Segment
FY	Financial Year
GDP	Gross domestic Product
GPIF	Japan's Government Pension Investment Fund
GSIA	Global Strategic Investment Alliance
ICA	The Infrastructure Consortium for Africa
ICRC	The Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission
ICT	Information and Communications Technology
IFC	International Finance Corporation
IIGF	Indonesia Infrastructure Guarantee Fund
IMF	International Monetary Fund
JBIC	Japan Bank for International Cooperation
Kes	Kenya Shillings
MCPP	Managed Co-Lending Portfolio Program
MDAs	Ministries, Departments and Agencies
MDBs	Multi-lateral Development Banks
NDP	National Development Plan
NSE	Nairobi Stock Exchange
NSSF	National Social Security Fund
NUSAF II	Northern Uganda Social Action Fund 2
OECD	The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
OMERS	Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System
PDs	Primary Dealers
PPI	Private Participation in Infrastructure
РРР	Public-Private Partnerships
PRG	Partial Risk Guarantee
PRI	Political Risk Insurance
PURSP	Privatization and Utility Sector Reform Project
PwC	PricewaterhouseCoopers
SEA	Strategic Environmental Assessment
SPV	Special Purpose Vehicle
UPPET	Universal Post Primary Education and Training
USAID	The United States Agency for International Development
USMID	Uganda Support to Municipal Infrastructure Development Program
WEF	World Economic Forums'

CHAPTER ONE: CONTEXT OF STUDY

1.1. Introduction

Recent studies have emphasized that infrastructure is one of the most important factors needed to spur economic growth and yet, there is still a big infrastructure gap which has affected many economies globally. Infrastructure is the primary physical systems of a business or nation which includes transportation, communication, sewage, water, and electric systems.¹ Provision of these systems is a government function, usually costly and requires substantial investments, which capacity most governments lack hence the increasing infrastructure gap.

In 2017, the OECD found that "global infrastructure investment needs of totaled USD 6.3 trillion per year over the period 2016-2030 to support growth and development, without considering further climate action."² Similarly, the Boston Consulting Group estimated the infrastructure gap in Sub-Saharan Africa to be USD 100 billion.³ Sub-Saharan Africa, according to global rankings, has the worst performance in virtually all areas of infrastructure development scoring 2.91 out of 7 according to the World Economic Forums' (WEF) Global Competitiveness Report.⁴ The region's infrastructure gap is evident in all sectors of the economy albeit with remarkable improvement in the telecommunication sector. The dire situation in the region means that countries therein, like Uganda are in a far worse state.

Uganda has an infrastructure financing gap estimated at USD 0.4 million per annum with overall investments growing at the average annual rate of only 4.3 percent within the five-year period up to FY 2015/16.5 This gap, has, in turn, affected Uganda's rankings in the continent where it scored 3.68 on the Global Competitive Index.⁶ According to the Uganda economic update, "the estimated level of investment required for Uganda to close the infrastructure gap amounts to almost USD 1.4 billion per year in the medium-term; about six percent of Uganda's GDP per year."⁷ However,

¹https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/infrastructure.asp#ixzz58r9Ad0XD accessed on 5 March 2018 ²Mariana Mirabile, Virginie Marchal and Richard Baron, 'Technical Note on Estimates of Infrastructure Investment Needs' (Oecd.org, 2017), 1

https://www.oecd.org/env/cc/g20-climate/Technical-note-estimates-of-infrastructure-investment-needs.pdf accessed 22 August 2018

³ 'Infrastructure Financing in Sub-Saharan Africa: Best Practices from Ten Years in the Field' (2017), 8 https://www.africafc.org/Publications/Publications-Documents/BCG-Report-Africa-May-2017-Electronic-v12may.aspx accessed 24 July 2018.

^{4&#}x27;Africa's Pulse; An Analysis of Issues Shaping Africa's Economic Future' (Openknowledge.worldbank.org, 2014), 43 https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/26485 accessed 22 August 2018

⁵Rachel Sebudde, 'Uganda Economic Update: 9th Edition-Infrastructure Finance Deficit: Can Public-Private Partnerships Fill the Gap?' (Documents.worldbank.org, 2017)

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/261811498801726339 accessed 13 June 2018

⁶ 'Africa Competitiveness Report 2017' (*The World Economic Forum*, 2017), 14 <u>https://www.weforum.org/reports/africa-competitiveness-report-2017</u> accessed 22 August 2018 ⁷ Ibid (n 5)

the Ugandan government is unable to finance large-scale infrastructure projects due to budgetary constraints and fiscal deficits. Therefore, policymakers and implementers must devise creative measures for accessing finance to invest in infrastructure. Recent studies and experience from other countries like Brazil, Chile, and South Africa show that Public-Private Partnerships (PPPs), if well structured, can be a sustainable solution in filling this infrastructure gap.

Public-Private Partnerships are projects in which the private sector Project Company finances, operates and maintains public infrastructure while receiving payment for its use; and the asset concerned usually reverts to public sector control/ownership at the end of the contract term⁸ (15-30 years). The concept of PPPs revolves around output specification, payment mechanisms, risk identification, risk allocation, and clear contractual terms. The success of PPPs is heavily dependent on active private sector participation since they are the investors in the projects. However, Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) has been declining especially in Sub-Saharan Africa, leaving the financial burden mostly to the African governments.

As of 2016, the sources of funding for Africa's infrastructure were Africa national governments, members of the Infrastructure Consortium for Africa (ICA), Arab Coordination Group, China, bilateral and multilateral financial institutions with the least being the private sector. Overall commitments to Africa's infrastructure fell by \$16.4 billion to \$62.5 billion from 2015 to 2016, which is the lowest level in five years.⁹ This is due to a reduction of \$14.5 billion of reported Chinese funding and a \$4.9 billion reduction of private sector investment.¹⁰ As a result, the ICA report states that African National governments were the primary funders of their transport infrastructure projects in 2016; contributing \$14.6 billion (59.6%) of the \$24.5 billion committed in the year.¹¹ However, the economic environment is such that national governments cannot meet the investment demands of a PPP project; which private investors (*especially institutional investors*) can fund but lack the incentive to do so.

Current trends show that investors have an increased risk appetite but lack the motivation to invest in projects that will not yield returns. Since risk is usually passed on to the investors, they are more willing to spend on stable, long-term, inflation-protected returns to match their portfolio allocations. Pension funds and insurance firms are still hesitant to participate in infrastructure financing of regional or national projects. With interest from the private sector even low, Uganda needs to be creative to tap into this underutilized option of infrastructure finance. Some of the

⁸E. R Yescombe, Principles of Project Finance (2nd edn, Academic Press 2014), 14

⁹The Infrastructure Consortium for Africa, 'Infrastructure Financing Trends in Africa' (2016), 14

¹⁰ Ibid

¹¹ Ibid

barriers to active PPI include lack of bankable projects, political risks, limited opportunities for financing vehicles and inappropriate risk allocation. Institutional investors, given their long-term investment portfolio, are interested in bonds because of their long tenor and risks associated with PPPs can be mitigated by guarantees and insurance as will be explained in the later chapters.

Even with the low PPI in Africa, Uganda is not a priority destination for investments, ranking at number nine out of twenty countries in a private sector survey conducted by ICA.¹² It is prudent to note that there is vast literature about the infrastructure gap in Sub-Saharan Africa, the financing deficit therein, options for financing PPP projects but there is none that has explained in detail, how to create a robust PPP environment that would attract the private sector to invest in infrastructure in Uganda. Whereas this is the case, earlier studies have found that lack of bankable projects, high bank lending rates, political instability, limited financing options and inappropriate risk mitigation are some of the factors hindering PPI in Uganda.

1.2. Purpose of the study and research questions

The purpose of this thesis is to find out the determinants of and barriers to private sector participation in PPP projects. This study recognises the dynamic and yet predictable nature of the economic infrastructural environment, its demands and the traditional mechanisms that have been used to meet these demands. Therefore, the research question is **"How can the Government of Uganda enhance private investment in infrastructure through Public-Private Partnerships?"**

The following questions offer guidance in answering the research question above:

- 1. What are the preconditions necessary for a successful PPP regime?
- 2. What are the barriers to private sector partcipation in PPP projects in Uganda?
- 3. What are the possible mechanisms to overcome the barriers if any?

1.3. Methodology and Limitations

This thesis will canvass existing literature to provide a basis for our analysis of PPPs, and the survey of private investors will help us understand the factors affecting infrastructure development in Uganda. The survey is also a means to uncover some of the evidence needed to support or digress from claims in existing literature. The survey questions are designed considering existing research on Public Private Partnerships. To answer the research questions, we take a more direct approach by conducting a survey of private investors regarding investment in infrastructure in Uganda. We ask how much knowledge the respondents have in infrastructure development and we have included a skip question mechanism to avoid taking into consideration responses from participants who do not know. We asked our respondents in which field they are working, to determine the relevance of their response based on their experience. Furthermore, we asked the respondents about the determining factors for private investment at the country level, project level and at the stage of financing the project. We then asked them the barriers to private investment at the project level and financing stage.

The purpose of conducting an in-depth analysis without making the survey too long and complicated for the respondents is to focus on the determining factors and barriers to PPI in Uganda; these questions do not require complex answers and can be included in ranking or multiple-choice questions.

Before conducting the survey, we circulated it among academics and people from other business fields to get their feedback and suggestions on the survey design and execution. Our study targeted investors, and we designed questions to understand how they perceive the economic environment in Uganda regarding infrastructure investment. We included inquiries to appreciate what their concerns were with infrastructure development at the country, project and financing level.

We developed our survey by considering questions that would provide insights into outstanding issues in research on private investment in PPP projects. We used Qualtrics to design an online version of the survey and distributed it through several delivery channels. We have attached the survey questions to this thesis as Appendix. I. Second, we sent out 50 invitations to participate in the online survey through social media (LinkedIn, Facebook and WhatsApp) and emails in May 2018. A top corporate lawyer and employees in the public sector provided us with contact details for other lawyers, employees, and clients working or with a background in infrastructure. We sent personal emails and messages to these contacts, inviting them to participate in the survey and we received 30 responses.

There are relevant limitations to the methodology implemented in this study. The number of investors with extensive knowledge in infrastructure is still small compared to the rest of the world, and this increases the likelihood of incorrect responses. Second, in a survey of the opinions of public officials and lawyers acting as agents, such as this one, we naturally face the risk that respondents answer in a strategic or untruthful fashion. To mitigate these concerns, we conducted the survey anonymously and did not require (or ask) respondents to reveal their names. We further assured participants that we would treat individual responses as confidential. Conversations with

several respondents also indicated that they would not spend time filling out the survey if they intended to answer dishonestly.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: in Chapter II, we define PPPs while detailing the preconditions for a successful PPP and the general barriers to private investment therein. In Chapter III, we discuss an overview of Uganda's economic environment vis a viz the preconditions of a successful PPP regime. In Chapter IV we analyze and interpret results from the survey. In Chapter V, we recommend possible solutions to the barriers to PPI, and in Chapter VI we conclude the paper.

CHAPTER TWO. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Introduction

In the modern era of Project finance, the public sector has embraced Public-Private Partnerships as a means of funding infrastructure projects because they are believed to be a more efficient and cost-effective procurement model. Traditionally, the public sector in developing countries oversaw financing significant infrastructure projects, with the government borrowing from transnational banks, Financial Development Institutions (FDIs) like the World Bank, or through export credits.¹³ However, in the recent years, the public sector has sought other means of financing infrastructure projects so to fill the gap. Some of the alternatives include privatization and project finance through public-private partnerships both of which are heavily dependent on private sector participation.

The main driver of PPP projects is access to funding and consequently active private sector participation in infrastructure projects. Recent studies have shown that the portfolio allocations for private investors, especially institutional investors, are inclined towards investment bonds and projects which have a long tenor, similar to their investment preference.¹⁴ Institutional investors who include pension funds, sovereign wealth funds, insurance companies, and mutual funds are increasingly an essential player in financial markets, holding over USD 70 trillion in assets by December 2011 in OECD countries alone.¹⁵ It is because of their investment potential that the public sector should endeavor to address institutional investors' demands. We note that institutional investors identify the preconditions for long-term investment to include a profitable business and investment environment, stable macroeconomic conditions, reputable legal and regulatory frameworks, and sufficient cost-benefit analysis.

This Chapter seeks to analyze the circumstances under which PPPs, and not public sector procurement, should be used to finance infrastructure projects. We will also discuss the conditions and structures optimal for realizing the benefits of PPP financing if chosen. While addressing these questions, we will analyze whether the elements of a typical PPP structure are in tandem with private sector long-term investment demands, and thus play a key role in attracting private investment in infrastructure projects.

¹³Yescombe, Principles of Project Finance (n 8) 1

¹⁴Della Croce, R., Yermo, J., "Institutional Investors and Infrastructure Financing" (2013) OECD Working Papers on Finance and Private Pensions, No.36, 9-10

http://www.oecd.org/pensions/privatepensions/G20reportLTFinancingForGrowthRussianPresidency2013.pdf accessed 30 May 2018 ¹⁵Ibid 8

To assess the potential of PPPs filling the infrastructure gap in Uganda, it is imperative to understand the procurement models that have been used in the past, their strengths and limitations vis a viz the components of PPP, risks, benefits, and costs therein. PPPs being a recent development in Uganda, it is necessary to understand the different forms of procurement of infrastructure to appreciate how PPPs can solve some of the limitations other procurement models face.

In this chapter, Section 2.2 shall discuss public sector procurement of infrastructure and its limitations thereby justifying the PPP financing model. Section 2.3 distinguishes privatization from PPPs since they are both forms of Private Participation in Infrastructure. Section 2.4 describes the elements of the PPP financing model, the different structures, the benefits and costs, preconditions for a successful PPP regime, and we shall discuss the barriers to private participation in infrastructure projects in Section 2.5.

2.2. Public- Sector Procurement

In this subsection, we explore the benefits and limitations of traditional procurement of infrastructure. Public sector procurement involves the outsourcing of distinct elements of a particular project through an input based specification.¹⁶ In a typical public-sector procurement (known as 'design-bid-build' or 'design-build-operate'-DBO), the Public Authority sets out the specs and design of the facility, calls for bids and pays for the construction of the facility by a private-sector contractor.¹⁷ The private contractor takes no responsibility for the long-term performance of the facility after the relatively short construction warranty period has expired.¹⁸ As has already been mentioned, public sector procurement is funded using public borrowing or tax revenues. Table 2.1 illustrates the difference between public sector procurement and PPPs.

¹⁶Ministry of Local Government, 'Public Private Partnerships Guidelines for Local Governments', 22-23 ¹⁷E. R Yescombe, *Public-Private Partnerships: Principles of Policy and Finance (Elsevier Finance)* (1st edn, Elsevier Science

^{2007), 3-4}

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-075068054-7.50025-3 accessed 23 August 2018 ¹⁸Ibid

Public-Sector Procurement	Public-Private Partnerships
The Government purchases an infrastructure asset	The Government purchases infrastructure services
Short-term design and construction contracts (2-4)	One long-term contract integrating design, build,
years	finance and maintenance (usually 30 years or more)
Input-based specifications	Output-based specifications
Th Government retains whole-of-life asset risk	Private sector retains whole-of-life asset risk
Initial costs are high since the public sector must	Payments begin once the contractor commissions
pay for capital costs, with ongoing low prices.	the asset. The payment profile is relatively even,
	reflecting the level of service provision over the
	longer term of the contract.
Government is typically liable for construction	Private contractor is usually responsible for
time and cost overruns	construction time and cost overruns
The Government runs the facility	Government may or may not operate the facility
Often no ongoing performance standards	Performance standards are in place. The
	government may abate payment if the private
	partner does not deliver the services to contractual
	requirements
Handover quality less defined	End of term handover quality defined

 Table 2.1 Difference between Public-Sector Procurement and PPPs

Source: PPP Guidelines for Local Governments in Uganda, 22-23

http://www.ug.undp.org/content/dam/uganda/img/Research%20and%20Publications/PPP%20Guidelines%20Final.pdf

2.2.1. Benefits and Limitations of Conventional Public-sector Procurement

The differences between public sector procurement and PPPs; and the benefits of conventional procurement justify why the public sector may choose to use traditional financing models in infrastructure projects. The benefits of public sector procurement are: lower costs of the project since financing from the public authority; long-term flexibility to make changes in the DBO contract because it is not bundled up with the funding; less complex structure since fewer parties are involved, and so should be quicker to complete and inherently reduce costs.¹⁹

However, the public procurement model has its limitations, and that is why the infrastructure gap now at \$3.3 trillion per annum and \$0.4 million per annum globally and in Uganda respectively; has only been increasing despite continuous investment in infrastructure projects. We discuss these limitations below. Weak strategic planning in infrastructure in developing countries leads to poor project selection often chosen to satisfy short-term political objectives, resulting in white elephants (junk projects), over-engineering, cost underestimation and demand overestimation.²⁰ It also leads to poor choices for investors as not all investors have the relevant expertise to guarantee value for money and quick delivery of projects. Strategic planning involves screening not only the projects but also the possible investors especially the sponsors.

The poor institutional design is a significant problem for most developing countries which have a little institutional separation between the agencies in charge of strategic planning and policy design, and those involved in the execution of projects and enforcement of contracts.²¹ Typically, this results in a conflict of interest between new projects and the implementation of agreements. The public sector may find new projects politically more attractive than implementing contracts because fewer firms are willing to participate in new projects. The poor institutional design is the reason why public infrastructure projects in developing countries may suffer delays, cost overruns, and low-quality output.

Laxity in the maintenance of already existing projects is another impediment to infrastructure development. Responsible departments usually abandon infrastructure projects until they deteriorate sufficiently that the public complains thereby drawing government reaction. The cost of a stop-and-go approach to maintenance is much higher than what would have been the cost of continuous maintenance, without including the social impact of lower service quality.²² An example is the Kampala here the concerned authorities often install streetlights but within a few months they are not operational due to lack of maintenance, and then reinstallation costs a lot more.²³

There is the danger of corruption in public agencies with poor checks-and-balances to curb the vice. Corruption is rampant where lowly paid government employees must oversee projects involving substantial investments, in the absence of institutional back up to monitor their work. This vice is particularly strife in the Local Governments of Uganda where out of 1,480 corruption cases reported and investigated by December 2016, 1,140 were from Local Governments concerning implementation of Government projects such as Northern Uganda Social Action Fund

²⁰Eduardo Engel, Ronald Fischer and Alexander Galetovic, 'Public-Private Partnerships: When and How' (2008), 11 White elephants are projects with negative social value, that is; projects whose social costs exceed their social benefits. ²¹Ibid

²²Ibid

²³http://www.monitor.co.ug/News/National/Streetlights--Is-KCCA-repeating-mistakes-of-its-predecessor-/688334-2415832-trntds/index.html accessed 18 May 2018

2 (NUSAF II), Uganda Support to Municipal Infrastructure Development Program (USMID) and Universal Post Primary Education and Training (UPPET).²⁴

When the construction lobbyists or politicians influence the public agency, the wrong are built at an excessive cost due to lack of competition. Similarly, when the government is in urgent need of infrastructure projects before an election, private firms have more bargaining power and can charge higher for their services.²⁵ An example is the huge Katosi road scandal, a project of approximately UGX 24.78 billion in Uganda, where there was a gross misappropriation of project funds and fraud.²⁶ This case sums up all the shortfalls of weak institutional design and political patronage.

2.2.2. Summary

In this section, we established that the infrastructure procurement model is shifting slowly from heavy reliance on the public sector towards significant private sector involvement. The shift is because private sector involvement ensures efficiency, expertise and attracts funding all of which are necessary for timely project delivery. We explained what public sector procurement of infrastructure entails and distinguished it from PPPs; identifying the benefits and drawbacks of the traditional procurement model. The limitations of public sector procurement are not meant to undermine its role in infrastructure development, but rather emphasize the need for PPPs in some projects especially where weak institutional design, lack of accountability and conflict of interest are limitations to the public sector. These limitations often lead to delays, cost overruns, low quality of infrastructure projects and ultimately wastage of already limited government resources; a burden borne by the taxpayers. Because of these conditions, public authorities seek the involvement of the private investors, who are believed to be adept at quality assurance, accountability and ensuring value for money in infrastructure projects. PPI can be through Privatization or Public-Private Partnerships, and although the focus of this study is PPPs, it is essential to distinguish between the two procurement models. In the next section, we define privatization and differentiate it from PPPs since they are both heavily dependent on private sector participation.

²⁴'Bi-Annual Inspectorate of Government Performance Report to Parliament' (The Inspectorate of Government, Uganda 2016), 7

²⁵Eduardo Engel et al. 'Public-Private Partnerships: When and How' (n 20)

²⁶http://www.monitor.co.ug/Magazines/PeoplePower/Katosi-road--The-fraud-that-lifted-lid-off-politicsof/689844-2600720-m2kc15z/index.html accessed 18 May 2018

2.3. **Privatization**

Privatization refers to the permanent transfer of government assets to a private entity, by either selling the asset or shares in the asset or through a management buy-out.²⁷ Privatization and PPPs are different in that, privatization involves the permanent transfer of a previously publicly owned asset to the private sector, whereas PPPs involve the temporary handover of public assets to the private partner assumes its role public sector "partner" throughout the transaction.²⁸

When the government opts for privatization of infrastructure assets, there is a need for specific rules and guidelines to regulate that sector and to cater for social and policy concerns affecting the transaction.²⁹ Table 2.2 shows the difference between privatization and PPPs.

Privatization	Public-Private Partnerships
Private investor directly accountable for the asset	The Public Authority remains directly responsible
and services	for the provision of services
Physical assets become permanently private-sector	Physical assets usually stay with or reverts to the
owned	public sector
Involves the introduction of competition to	Involves the provision of a monopoly service
provide the service	
The scope and cost of services is controlled, if at	The scope and cost of services is fixed by a specific
all, by some form of licensing or regulation which	contract between the private and public sectors
allows for regular cost changes, or left to the forces	
of market competition	

Table 2.2 Difference between Privatization and PPPs

Source: PPPs: Principles of Policy and Finance http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-075068054-7.50025-3

The other difference between privatization and PPPs is that asset ownership by the private firm involved is indefinite and complete for privatization whereas, in the case of PPPs, it is temporary and partial.³⁰ The preferred option, in this case, is PPPs; because partial control of the project assets and reversion to government ownership means that the government can use this power to solve coordination and planning problems, in contrast to privatization.³¹

²⁸Edward Farquharson, Clemencia Torres de Mästle and E. R Yescombe, *How to Engage with the Private Sector in Public-Private Partnerships in Emerging Markets* (World Bank 2011), 9

²⁷Ministry of Local Government (n 16) 23

²⁹Ministry of Local Government (n 16) 23

³⁰Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20), 3

³¹Ibid

2.4. Public-Private Partnerships

Public-Private Partnerships are projects in which the private Project Company finances, operates and maintains public infrastructure and is paid for its use; the asset concerned usually reverts to public sector control/possession at the end of the contract.³² Describing the PPP financing structure, the OECD states that "lending is based solely on the revenue stream of the project; risks are shifted to project partners capable of managing them; liability is limited to the contributed equity capital, and lenders have no recourse or limited recourse to project sponsors."³³ Recourse to project sponsors determines the liability sponsors have towards the lenders of the project company.

In non-recourse PPP Projects, Lenders take compensation only from the Private Partner's proceeds, without appeal to the Equity Investors.³⁴ In limited recourse PPP Projects, lenders largely depend on incomes from the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) to repay their loans but have additionally limited appeal to the Equity Investors.³⁵

Prior literature shows that all PPPs share similar characteristics. These are: a long-term contract between the public and private sector; the design, construction, financing, and operation of public infrastructure by the private sector party; the public sector or general public pays for the use of the Facility over the lifetime of the PPP contract; and the Facility remains in public sector ownership, or reverts to public sector ownership at the end of the PPP contract.³⁶ We summarize these elements into two characteristics. One is that under PPPs, one private firm is responsible for financing, building and operating the project; also referred to as bundling. The second is that during the contract term, the private firm owns and has autonomy in managing the assets of the firm as they relate to the quantity and quality of inputs among others.

Figure 2.1 summarizes the structure of a typical PPP showing the principal parties and contracts involved in a typical PPP Project. The Contracting Authority engages the Private Partner through a PPP Contract and also enters into a separate "Direct Agreement" with the Lenders like banks.³⁷ The Lenders provide funding to the Private Partner and take security over the Private Partner's assets for the repayment of such financing.³⁸ The Lenders also sign Direct Contracts with the

³²Yescombe, Principles of Project Finance (n 8) 16

³³Infrastructure Financing Instruments and Incentives (OECD 2015), 16

³⁴ Guidance on PPP Contractual Provisions 2017 edition, Public Private Partnerships', (*Ppp.worldbank.org, 2017*), 5 <u>https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/library/guidance-on-ppp-contractual-provisions-2017-</u> <u>edition</u> accessed 14 August 2013

³⁵Ibid

³⁶Yescombe, Public-Private Partnerships (n 17) 3

³⁷Ibid (n 34)

³⁸Ibid

Construction Contractor, and Operating and Maintenance (O&M) Contractor typically retained by the Private Partner to build, and operate the project as required under the PPP Contract.³⁹ The Shareholders/Equity Investors own the Private Partner, providing funding to it through equity and shareholder loans (the repayment of which is subordinate to the Lenders' funding).⁴⁰



Figure 2.1 PPP Structure

Source: Guidance on PPP Contractual Provisions https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/library/guidance-on-ppp-contractual-provisions-2017-edition

If a PPP Project suffers any losses, the equity holders in the SPV suffer loss first, and Lenders are only affected if the company loses its equity investment in the project. Therefore, PPPs expose Equity Investors to higher risk than debt providers which explains why they earn a higher return on their investment. Since equity is typically more expensive than debt, it is advisable to use a high a proportion of debt than equity to finance the PPP Project (usually 70 to 95 percent of total project cost), which would result in lower financing costs and service for the Contracting Authority.

Private investors seek higher returns and longer tenors to meet their investment targets and profit margins. To attract private investment in a PPP project; there must be a high likelihood of success and the profit margin high enough to mitigate the risks associated with such projects. On the contrary, the target of public sector engagement with private investors is to exploit their expertise

³⁹Ibid

and to obtain supplemental financing which the government budget cannot afford due to budgetary and fiscal constraints. Many experts have argued that the best way to attract additional funding and tap into private sector expertise is through a PPP structure designed to satisfy both private and public sector needs.

Before discussing PPPs in detail, it is important to note that PPPs are not a solution to all infrastructure challenges and so should not be viewed as a replacement of public sector procurement but rather as an alternative where circumstances permit. The assumption is that PPPs provide relief for governments with a strained budget, but PPPs can turn out quite costly if not well planned and structured. An example is the Disneyland Paris project which experienced financial problems upon completion due to wrong timing (European recession), sizeable initial capital expenditures, and an overly aggressive capital structure dependent on real estate sales for debt service (project debt accounted for 75% of project value).⁴¹ The World Bank advises that PPPs may not be a viable option where the contracting authority is unable to entirely specify the requirements of the project, due to unclear output specifications regarding quality; or where there is lack of third-party finance.⁴² Further, where there is difficulty substituting suppliers due to the need to integrate technologies, PPPs may not be considered.⁴³

Once the contracting authority has identified and planned for the need for PPP procurement, the public sector needs to determine the extent of private sector involvement in the project, supported by the enabling legislation and policy frameworks. Subsection 2.4.1 explains the scope of private sector involvement as defined by different PPP structures.

2.4.1. Types of Public-Private Partnerships

PPPs involve various asset types (*which include both new and existing projects*); determine obligations of the parties involved and the payment method by the party concerned. We categorize PPP assets into "greenfield" and "brownfield" projects. A greenfield project consists of the construction of an entirely new project while a brownfield project involves the overhaul or restoration of an existing structure.⁴⁴

⁴¹Esty C. Benjamin, *Chase's Strategy for Syndicating the Hong Kong Disneyland Loan (A)* (Havard Business School, 2003), 2 ⁴²Ministry of Local Government (n 16) 25

Where there is no third party finance, the private partner is forced to rely heavily on corporate borrowing by and may fail to exercise arm's length due diligence. ⁴³Ibid

⁴⁴John M Niehuss, International Project Finance in a Nutshell (West Academic Publishing 2015), 360

Parties to a PPP contract usually define their obligations and risks in a project, into an agreement which also describes the scope of engagement such as Build Operate Transfer (BOT), Build Transfer Operate (BTO), Design Build Finance Operate (DBFO), Build Own Operate Transfer (BOOT) (*see Table 2.3*). Defining the contractual scope is vital to the contracting authority for the assessment of the long-term residual value of the project.

Contract name	Description	Asset type
Design-build-finance-operate- maintain (DBFOM); Design-build-finance-operate (DBFO); Design-construct-manage- finance (DCMF)	A private party designs, arranges, finances, constructs, operates and maintains a project under a concession for a specified period	Greenfield
Design-build-operate (DBO)	The private sector participant designs, builds and operates the project but is not responsible for raising finance.	Greenfield
Build-operate-own-transfer (BOOT)	The project facility is financed, built, owned, operated and maintained by the private investor who transfers it back to the government at the end of the concession.	Greenfield
Build-operate-transfer (BOT)	A private sector investor designs, finances, builds, operates (but does not own) and maintains the project facility and transfers it back to the government at the end of the concession period.	Greenfield
Rehabilitate-own-transfer (ROT)	A private party rehabilitates existing assets rather than building new ones and then operates, maintains, receives revenues and ultimately transfers the facility back to the government.	Brownfield
Operations and Maintenance (O&M)	O&M contracts for existing assets may come under the definition of PPP where these are performance-based, long-term, and involve significant private investment (sometimes also called performance-based maintenance contracts).	Brownfield

Table 2.3	The	Different	PPP	Structures
-----------	-----	-----------	-----	------------

Source: International Project Finance, in a Nutshell, 360

The difference between the DBFOM structure and the other structures above is that DBFOM represents a pure PPP structure whereas the others are hybrid PPPs. Under DBFOM the private sector bears all the risks (technical, financial and contractual) in the project whereas, under the hybrid structure, risks are shared between the public and private sector usually between 10% and 90% respectively.⁴⁵ To incentivize the private partner to take on such high risks, investors need assurance that the revenue stream generated from the project upon completion will increase investment returns. Therefore, it is essential to define the payment mechanisms beforehand to incentivize and engage investors.

There are two types of payment used in PPPs namely; Concessions and Availability-based fees. Lenders need reassurance that the Project Company can pay the debt borrowed to carry out the PPP Project and that the company will not expose itself to risks which could negatively affect the expected revenue stream. Therefore, the Private Partner should ensure that it generates sufficient operating cash flows to cover debt service plus an acceptable margin to cover the risk of variation to the cash flows.⁴⁶

Under the Availability-based model, the government agrees to make payments to the SPV for the public facility or service as long as the facility or service is available for public use.⁴⁷ Payment can be through fixed periodic fees contingent on the quality of the service standard being met under an availability contract, or by using shadow tolls where the government pays the private operator a fixed price for each user of the infrastructure.⁴⁸ However, because shadow tolls introduce demand risk which would increase the risk premium charged by the selected bidder, they should be used minimally.

Under User-Pays or Concession Agreements, construction or refurbishment of public infrastructures such as a road, bridge, tunnel, airport, port, and the railway is paid for with revenue derived from tolls, fares or similar payments made by the users (User Charges).⁴⁹ The disadvantage with this mechanism is that it also introduces demand risk and high levels of risk may discourage investors.

⁴⁶http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/508161479239656383/For-Consultation-WBG-Final-Draft-Report-on-Recommended-PPP-Contractual-Provisions.pdf accessed 23 August 2018

⁴⁵Cornelius Ruiters and Maselaganye P Matji, 'Public–Private Partnership Conceptual Framework and Models for the Funding and Financing of Water Services Infrastructure in Municipalities from Selected Provinces in South Africa' (<u>http://www.wrc.org.za</u>), 5

http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v42i2.13 accessed 14 August 2018

⁴⁷Niehuss (n 44) 360-361

⁴⁸Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 21

⁴⁹Yescombe, Principles of Project Finance (n 8) 16

The advantage user charges have over availability-based fees is that the public sector does not directly invest public resources into financing the project which would otherwise increase the costs of funding the project. Since both the availability-based fees and user fees payment mechanisms have the potential to introduce demand risk or white elephants, the optimal contract should specify a combination of user fees, and subsidies but the contracting authority should only use subsidies after exhausting once user fees.⁵⁰ The Public sector should encourage financing on commercial terms to avoid distorting markets or creating a dependence of the private sector on subsidies.⁵¹ Blended finance should only apply when the public benefit of a project exceeds the proceeds to private investors; usually, because there are externalities, market failures, affordability limitations, or information asymmetry in the market which thwart the dynamic growth of the private sector.⁵² Even when blended finance is desirable, the public sector should limit its use and minimize concessionality as much as possible to help boost viable financial markets.⁵³ Blended finance of public and private investment, which may or may not involve a form of subsidy.⁵⁴

2.4.2. Advantages and disadvantages of PPPs

In this subsection, we discuss the advantages and disadvantages of PPPs, not only highlighting the justification for PPP as the preferred procurement model but also emphasizing its shortfalls which the public sector should consider when using PPPs.

Because PPPs spread out the capital cost of public infrastructure over an extended period, and do not charge the price immediately against the federal budget, it eases budgetary constraints on public infrastructure investment; usually caused by insufficient tax revenues and limits on public sector borrowing.

When the contracting authority merely defines the desired services and specific outputs, innovation is encouraged within the private sector which leads to improved value for money through well-designed assets and quality services.

The principle in PPPs is that risks transfer to the party best suited to handle them. Risk transfer involves identifying which Party can bear the likelihood that such threats will occur and can

⁵⁰Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 22

⁵¹<u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/363eeaab-77da-4a9e-ad1e-9ff089402bf1/EMCompass_Note_51-BlendedFinance_FIN+April+13.pdf?MOD=AJPERES</u> accessed 5 June 2018

⁵²Ibid ⁵³Ibid

⁵⁴ http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/383411468197952433/pdf/106019-BRI-PUBLIC-EMCompass-3-EMCompass-Blending-Public-and-Private-Finance.pdf accessed 5 June 2018

manage the cost impact if they do happen.⁵⁵ Since the private sector can manage dangers like construction risks much better and at a lower cost than the public sector, it should retain those risks.⁵⁶

The temporary nature of PPP contracts can sometimes be used to improve welfare substantially since it allows for state-contingent contract terms and therefore makes risk allocation possible.⁵⁷

Where the initial capital in a PPP project falls outside the public budget, the public sector can make or accelerate investments in infrastructure which would not otherwise have been possible or would have been delayed until later.⁵⁸ Figure 2.2 summarizes the benefits of PPPs.

HOW PPPs MAY HELP









Disadvantages

When the Public authority chooses the availability based (government pays) model, the service fees are a future annual cost, and thus do have an eventual impact on the public-sector budget in much the same way as borrowing⁵⁹moreover expensively.

Some authors argue that private sector finance for a PPP is more costly than public sector procurement through borrowed funds. Moreover, evidence reveals that the cost of capital for a PPP will typically be around 2-3% per annum higher than that of public sector funding.⁶⁰ In this case, public sector borrowing seems cheaper because lenders to the government do not take any

⁵⁵Guidance on PPP Contractual Provision (n 34) 7

⁵⁶Yescombe, Public Private Partnerships (n 17) 18

⁵⁷Eduardo Engel (n 20) 4

⁵⁸Niehuss (n 44) 17

⁵⁹Yescombe, Public-Private Partnerships (n 56)

significant risk with their money, whereas lenders to a PPP assume a higher risk⁶¹since theirs is a non-recourse or limited recourse loan. However, when the Public-Sector Comparator (PSC) is adjusted to cover the risks involved in the project, traditional procurement may turn out to be costlier as in Table 2.4.

	PSC	PPP
NPV (net present value) of cost of public-sector	900	
procurement (including capex and opex)		
NPV of Service Fees		1,000
NPV of risk adjustments	90	
NPV of additional tax	45	
Risk-adjusted NPV cost	1,035	1,000

Source: Public-Private Partnerships, Principles of Policy and Finance, 66

Because PPP projects are usually big, high cost and complex, local and smaller contractors usually cannot bid thereby reducing competition which may drive up costs of the whole project since the few contractors available may raise their bidding price. For instance, a PPP project in the transport sector in Uganda may cost approximately USD 800 million which local investors cannot afford.

The benefits of PPPs by far outweigh the limitations. PPPs are a source of additional funding, private sector expertise, incentives and innovation, lifecycle management and long-term investment perspective. The argument that PPPs are costly may not be correct especially when the PSC is adjusted to cover risks in a project.

The advantages of PPPs discussed above can only be maximized by fulfilling certain conditions. These include governance and operational maturity, legal and regulatory frameworks, good investment climate, financial facilities, appropriate risk analysis and allocation and clear contractual terms which we will discuss in the next subsection. We note that structuring the financial aspect of PPPs is not just a question of optimally allocating the different risks involved in an infrastructure project, but also a question of setting up the right governance structure to ensure the sustainability of the project.⁶²

⁶¹Ibid

⁶²Rabah Arezki and others, 'From Global Savings Glut to Financing Infrastructure: The Advent of Investment Platforms' (2016) 16 IMF Working Papers, 17

2.4.3. Preconditions for a successful PPP regime

In this subsection, we discuss factors that need to be in place for a PPP regime to be successful. A PPP project is successful when the private partner delivers the project on time, within the budget, the asset meets quality specifications, the contract defines the parties' obligations clearly, the business environment promotes private investment, the legal and regulatory framework is strong enough to support and sustain private investment. World Bank advises that "the host country needs numerous characteristics to achieve success namely: protection against regulatory failure, an established framework to manage the PPP process, operational maturity regarding building a track record of successful PPPs, a sound investment climate, and organized financial facilities." ⁶³ Additionally, the successful implementation of PPPs requires a stable business environment, proficient sponsor, and political commitment.⁶⁴ To set up a sound PPPs regime, we do not consider only optimal risk allocation, but it is also necessary to have the right governance structures in place to ensure sustainability of the project.

2.4.3.1. **PPP** Governance and Operational maturity

We note that, when creating a PPP unit, staff must have the relevant commercial and legal skills needed to be a vital source of support for policymakers and public bodies which develop and sponsor projects.⁶⁵ Indeed, there should be strong fiscal institutions with sufficient control of the ministry of finance at each stage of the PPP process, including possible contract renegotiation; budgeting, accounting and reporting practices should be in line with best practices.⁶⁶

An appropriate governance structure, which provides internal controls and incentives to reduce information problems, is likely to foster independent project selection and evaluation; separate contract design and award from contract monitoring; and subject renegotiations to independent review.⁶⁷ An essential building block in PPP programs is the creation of a specialized PPP unit with specialists from different areas; preferably with a mixture of experience in both the private and public sectors to centralize and retain expertise within the public sector.⁶⁸

The different PPP units should have distinct roles. The group that writes and awards PPP contracts should not be in charge of project planning, selection and contract enforcement. There should be

https://econpapers.repec.org/RePEc:imf:imfdep:18/02 accessed 21 May 2018

 ⁶³ 'Chapter 4: Did Public-Private Partnerships Deliver' (<u>www.Ieg.worldbankgroup.org</u>, 2018), 10
 <u>http://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/sites/default/files/Data/reports/chapters/ppp_chap4_0.pdf</u> accessed 23 May 2018.
 ⁶⁴ Ibid

⁶⁵Edward Farquharson et al. (n 28) 27

⁶⁶Ruben V Atoyan and others, 'Public Infrastructure in the Western Balkans; Opportunities and Challenges' (*Econpapers.repec.org*, 2018), 35

⁶⁷Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 16

⁶⁸Yescombe, Public-Private Partnerships (n 17) 28-29

a planning agency to design, evaluate and select projects; an external board to review the costbenefit evaluations that support the chosen projects and PPP contracts written to implement them; and a PPP superintendence to ensure compliance with the agreement, performance, and quality standards are met and provide information to users and the public.⁶⁹

The external review board, the superintendence and the panel of experts, should be financially and formally independent of the executive, and their acts should be subject to strict transparency requirements.⁷⁰ There should be a clear distinction of roles to avoid overlapping and conflict of interest which ultimately affects service delivery. Defining the functions by the legal and regulatory framework is necessary since it helps to streamline the parameters within which a project shall be procured and delivered as will be discussed in the next subsection.

2.4.3.2. Legal and regulatory framework

PPPs are long-term contracts, and their viability depends on the legal environment and the protection both of property rights of the private firm and powers of the public.⁷¹ A legal and policy framework is critical to demonstrate political commitment to the project and to give certainty as to the parties' rights, duties, and benefits under the scheme. Without a sound framework, investors are not willing to invest in PPP projects given their risky nature. Establishing a stable governance structure involves introducing PPP-specific institutions, rules, and procedures to ensure PPP projects are subject to similar discipline as public investment projects.⁷² The public sector may use contract standardization alongside framework legislation, and again this is beneficial in creating greater certainty for bidders and lenders and speeding up the procurement process.⁷³

Therefore, it is vital that the public sector improves its legal environment especially the protection of property rights before introducing PPPs which are more sensitive to deficiencies in this area than the traditional procurement of infrastructure.⁷⁴ A stable legal and regulatory framework should be such that it creates a conducive investment atmosphere and shows political willingness and support.

⁶⁹Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 17

⁷⁰Ibid

⁷¹Ibid

⁷²'Public-Private Partnerships Reference Guide - Version 3 - OECD' (Oecd.org, 2018), 57

http://www.oecd.org/gov/world-bank-public-private-partnerships-reference-guide-version-3.htm accessed 21 May 2018

⁷³Yescombe, Public-Private Partnerships (n 17) 33

⁷⁴Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 17

2.4.3.3. Investment climate

This subsection is intended to highlight the factors investors consider when assessing whether a country has a good investment climate or not. We argue that PPPs are more likely to be successful where there is a political consensus to maintain favorable frameworks and to be proactive with concession projects where appropriate, the likelihood of significant political delays is low, there is political stability and a sound business environment.⁷⁵ An economy should have a business environment that is (i) transparent; (ii) open to foreign investment; (iii) has full foreign currency convertibility; (iv) does not have restrictions on repatriation of capital; (v) has a favorable tax environment; and (vi) has a stable currency and exchange rate.⁷⁶ Additional indicators of a healthy business climate include access to innovative financing packages, availability of a clear exit process for investors, and the availability of government financial and political support.⁷⁷ Government financial support may show financial support by offering financial packages for projects and developing its financial facilities.

2.4.3.4. Financial facilities

There is a need to consider the elements that can enhance the provision of reliable financial facilities. We argue that it is essential for governments to have a good track record of adhering to their contractual obligations since PPPs are heavily dependent on debt financing reduced in writing to contractual terms. There should be a sound capital market for private infrastructure finance since most of the capital invested in PPP projects is through debt. There should be reliable long-term debt instruments for infrastructure financing, a developed insurance and pension market with useful products for infrastructure risk reduction and whether interest-rate or exchange-rate hedging instruments are available.⁷⁸ Governments should also provide subsidies that allow low-income users better access to electricity, water, and transport services⁷⁹which are the most popular sectors for PPP projects otherwise the projects risk facing public resistance.

2.4.3.5. Risk analysis and allocation

PPPs can be summarized to mean the transfer of risks relating to the costs of design and construction of the Facility, and market demand for the Facility; or service provided by the Facility

77Ibid

79Ibid 57

⁷⁵EIU (The Economist Intelligence Unit), 'The 2015 Infrascope: Evaluating the Environment for Public Private Partnerships In Africa' (Eiu.com, 2015), 55

https://www.eiu.com/public/topical_report.aspx?campaignid=AfricaInfrascope2015 accessed 24 May 2018 ⁷⁶Public-Private Partnerships for Transportation in the APEC Region: An Analysis and Literature Review' (2017), 16 https://www.apec.org/publications?pub_id=1807 accessed 24 May 2018

⁷⁸The 2015 Infrascope (n 75) 56

²² | Page

and the Facility's operation and maintenance costs, from the Public Authority to the Project Company.⁸⁰

The responsibilities in the PPP contract may vary depending on the type of PPP model adopted, but the private partner is usually accountable for project administration and completion and exposed to most of the risks incidental. However, when the government assumes risk by owning and operating infrastructure, it incurs substantial, and unvalued, hidden cost.⁸¹ By transferring some of the risks to a private party, which can better manage it, the public sector may reduce its overall expenditure in the project and minimize risk to the taxpayer.⁸² Risk analysis is generally part of the feasibility studies and is designed to inform the project participants (including sponsors, lenders, construction companies) about the key risks that could potentially affect the success of the project.

Contracting parties usually insure themselves against demand risk, construction risk, maintenance risk and policy risks and firms ask for guarantees so they can unload demand risk.⁸³ In some markets and projects, the financiers may require extra assurance from the government because of the perceived risks, but such guarantees must be awarded with caution, as they reassign risk back to the public sector and may weaken the motivation of the lenders to ensure performance of the project (not to mention the potential fiscal liabilities these guarantees may create for the public sector).⁸⁴ By contrast, an appropriate contract that explicitly rules out the most likely risk factors and provides for an effective conflict resolution mechanism can help mitigate the risk of intentional government actions.⁸⁵

We note that various factors influence risk allocation, including the sophistication of the market, the knowledge of the private sector and the level of competition between bidders.⁸⁶ Governments, Contracting Authorities and developing markets, may be able to transfer more risk to Private Partners once they establish successful track records in national or sectoral PPP markets, as these markets become increasingly attractive to Equity Investors and Lenders, and therefore more

<u>https://www.openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/2588</u> accessed 15 August 2018 ⁸⁵Eduardo Engel et al. (20) 20

⁸⁶Guidance on PPP Contractual Provisions (n 34) 8

⁸⁰Yescombe, Public Private Partnerships (n 17) 4

⁸¹PPP Reference Guide (n 72) 18

⁸²Ibid

⁸³Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 18

Regarding policy risks, it is unrealistic to have government bear the risk associated with unintended consequences of its actions.

⁸⁴'Attracting Investors to African Public-Private Partnerships: A Project Preparation Guide' (www.worldbank.org, 2009), 26

competitive.⁸⁷ It is best practice for risks to be specified and allocated in writing under contractual terms so that all partners are cognizant of the obligations and rights in the project.

2.4.3.6. Clear contractual terms

Parties in a PPP project need a robust contractual regime to protect them from moral hazard and adverse selection problems and to complement the system of governance. PPPs are useful when parties define the desired quality, specify the output of the project, identify payment mechanisms, and parties' obligations in a contract. Contracting allows a contracting agency to enter into a long-term contract for services to be delivered as and when required.⁸⁸ The typical PPP structure as summarized in Figure I is sophisticated and complex, involves many parties with service contracts to further the objectives of the main PPP contract and so require a lot of time to draft the contract. It is on this basis that some authors argue for a complete contract with standard provisions as to parties' rights and obligations and with limited options for amendments. In some states, the public sector has made efforts to develop complete standardized PPP contracts for different types of infrastructure projects, like roads, railways, ports or power generation.⁸⁹ However, there is no unanimously accepted language for such contracts on a universal basis.⁹⁰

Parties do not prefer complete contracts because of the possible hold up problems and transaction costs that they involve. Hold-up problems arise because with a complete contract, ownership of the SPV, which is the project asset, shall be defined and the owner of an asset has the right to decide how the asset is used to the extent that its use is not contractually specified.⁹¹ For example, a firm hold-up problem can be renegotiation induced by the concessionaire, or government-led hold-up problem arises when the government instigates renegotiations (to reduce tolls or increase taxes).⁹² The high transaction costs occur when drafting, enforcing and renegotiating the contract.

We argue that because PPP contracts are long-term and usually complex, it may not be possible ex-ante to write a complete contingent claims contract. Indeed, an incomplete contract is one with gaps, missing provisions or ambiguities which may have to be dealt with either by renegotiation or through a court.⁹³ If an agreement is long and complex, it is more likely to be incomplete, and even

87Ibid

https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/78275/Nguyen_DA_D_2017.pdf?sequence=1 accessed 24 June 2018

⁸⁸PPP Reference Guide (n 72) 18

⁸⁹Guidance on PPP Contractual Provisions), v

⁹⁰Ibid

⁹¹Oliver Hart, Incomplete Contracts and Control (2017), 2

https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/hart/files/incomplete_contracts... accessed 24 June 2018

⁹²Duc Anh Nguyen, Improving Public-Private Partnership Contracts through Risk Characterization, Contract Mechanisms, and Flexibility (2017), 51

⁹³Yescombe, Principles of Project Finance (n 8) 203

more likely impossible for the Public Authority to transfer responsibility of managing the unforeseeable circumstances.⁹⁴ Flexibility, in this case, is a crucial factor because it makes little sense to make a small annual saving in payments while locking the Public Authority into a PPP contract which cannot be easily changed if its requirements may have changed substantially.⁹⁵ However, while PPP contracts cannot provide solutions for every possible situation, they should provide rules (templates or formulas) for the range of foreseeable scenarios, and a decision-making methodology for any other case.⁹⁶

Incomplete contracts protect all parties in the project in that they each have residual control rights; this, even though some may have more residual rights than others. For instance, if firm A and firm B sign an arms-length (incomplete) contract, then the owner of firm A has residual control rights over the A assets and the owner of firm B has residual control rights over the B assets;⁹⁷ so all parties are held accountable to each other.

One of the benefits of contractual terms is that defining quality, outputs, and costs in a contract helps the PPP firm to focus on service delivery without having to deal with other limitations typical in the public sector.⁹⁸ In regulated markets, firms expect revenue streams that ensure reasonable profits, and when unable to earn these profits, they expect a change in contract terms.⁹⁹ The balance between revenue streams and profit margins is referred to as "financial equilibrium" by Eduardo Engel et al. Additionally since a firm is responsible for all investment and has the exclusive right to use the assets and exploit the project, any change in the plan must be agreed with the firm.¹⁰⁰

Service standards should be at the center of the PPP contract, and the firm should bear the cost of meeting these standards; focusing on quality will ensure that the firm maintains the project asset in excellent condition. Conversely, if government changes service standards and additional investments are needed to meet them, the government should compensate the firm for the additional costs at market value. On the other hand, if the private sector fails to meet its performance conditions, service payments may be decreased.¹⁰¹

Eduardo Engel et al. further explain that ex-ante financial equilibrium should follow from a prudent bid, and not from ex-post renegotiation justified by costs which are higher than expected.

⁹⁴Ibid 27

⁹⁵Yescombe, Public-Private Partnerships (n 17) 226

⁹⁶PPP Reference Guide (n 72) 144

⁹⁷Oliver Hart (91) 3

⁹⁸Ibid

⁹⁹Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 16

¹⁰⁰Ibid ¹⁰¹PPP Reference Guide (n 72) 18

Thus, the public sector should encourage competitive auctions and increased revenues for additional investments to ensure a reasonable return on further investments.¹⁰²

Another advantage is that specifying outputs in a contract, rather than prescribing inputs, allows the private partner to be creative and innovative to achieve value for money. Competitive procurement of these contracts encourages the bidders to explore innovative solutions for meeting contract specifications.

For effective enforcement of the contract, parties need to decide whether to draft a complete contract ex-ante or enter an incomplete contract to allow for renegotiations ex-post if the need arises. The public sector should have the necessary skills and knowledge to provide for the foreseeable events and to renegotiate favorable terms into an incomplete contract, which boils down to governance and operational maturity. Investors want assurance that the operating framework within government can manage the PPP process and that policymakers and the parties implementing projects have a realistic understanding of the complexity of PPP projects.¹⁰³

2.4.3.7. Summary

In this section, we defined PPPs explaining the different structures that can be used to finance an infrastructure project. Through the discussion, we established that because of their long-term nature and high yield return on investment, PPPs were an appropriate investment option for institutional investors who prefer long-term high yield investments for their investment portfolios. We distinguished between availability based, and user pays revenue model as the payment mechanisms in PPP contracts; highlighting the drawbacks of each. The biggest drawback is that they have the potential of encouraging junk projects and introducing demand risks respectively. We advised that the optimal contract would call for the use of user charges blended with government subsidy albeit with caution and after careful analysis. The advantages of well-planned PPPs to wit ensuring quality assurance, accountability and value for money were found to outweigh the argument that PPP projects are more expensive than public procurement. When subjected to risk-adjusted cost analysis, public procurement was found to be more expensive.

We also noted that the preconditions for investment set by institutional investors were in tandem with those necessary for the success of a PPP regime. These are; clear and specific contractual terms, good governance and operational maturity, proper legal and regulatory frameworks, proper investment climate, sound financial facilities and appropriate risk analysis and allocation among the parties best suited to handle the risks. Regarding PPP contracting, we argued that incomplete

¹⁰²Eduardo Engel et al. (n 20) 16

contracts were preferable given the long-term nature and complexity of PPP projects; giving the public sector room to renegotiate terms to cover unforeseeable circumstances.

Once the public sector has met the preconditions of a successful PPP, the advantages as discussed earlier like quality assurance, delivery of services on time, accountability and infrastructural development are undeniable. Figure 2.3 gives a summary of the benefits of PPPs.





Having discussed the success factors of PPPs and found that the interests of institutional investors align with the elements and preconditions of PPPs, it is still a concern that the private sector is hesitant to participate in PPPs in Uganda and Africa generally.

2.5. Barriers to Active Investor Participation in PPP Projects

This section discusses the barriers to private participation in PPP projects generally. We then compare the survey results in Chapter 4 to the obstacles mentioned below to find out whether they are cross-cutting no matter the jurisdiction and apply directly to the Ugandan situation.

In a private sector survey conducted by the Infrastructure Consortium for Africa, the respondents stated that the most significant challenges they faced in identifying projects suitable for their organizations centered around bankability of projects; institutional capacity; political risks and

¹⁰⁴Chapter 4 (n 63) 10

interference; legal and regulatory frameworks; and lack of risk mitigation strategies citing too few instruments to fund small projects.

2.5.1. The scarcity of well-structured bankable infrastructure projects

Good schemes with an acceptable risk-return combination are rare, with the IMF citing lack of bankable projects as the most severe constraint to private investment in infrastructure.¹⁰⁵ The size of the project also matters as it affects transaction costs and rate of returns. The larger the pension fund or insurance company, the larger the project size required for investment. Therefore, while many African countries consider their infrastructure projects megaprojects, they may be too small for international institutional investors thereby creating a size mismatch.

The ability to create bankable projects is heavily dependent on strong institutions with the right commercial and human resource skills to be able to analyze and assess the viability of the infrastructure projects and appropriately allocate risks to parties prepared to mitigate them. For instance revenue collection in many sectors remains a challenge due to inefficiencies within the agencies tasked with this role. In 2008, the World Bank found that "Africa's power and water utilities show very high levels of incompetence regarding under collection of revenues and distribution losses; where services typically collect only 70 to 90 percent of billed revenues, and experience distribution losses that can easily be twice as high as technical best practice."¹⁰⁶

Existing literature estimates the inefficiencies in state-owned utilities and infrastructure providers in Sub-Saharan Africa to cost around \$6 billion a year which increases costs of the project and reduces the benefits users get from the service.¹⁰⁷ Figure 2.4 shows the hidden value of utility inefficiency in the power and water sector.

¹⁰⁵Klaus Maurer, Mobilization of Long-term Savings for Infrastructure Financing in Africa (2017), 11

The preparation and structuring of complex infrastructure PPPs takes a long time and the cost and quality of project preparation is often underestimated.

¹⁰⁶ Vivien Foster, *Overhauling the Engine Of Growth: Infrastructure in Africa* (The World Bank 2008), 12 <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTPRAL/Resources/africa country diagnostic.pdf</u> accessed 15 August 2018 "Many countries are struggling with the collection of fuel levies that are due to their Road Funds for the financing of road maintenance. In some cases, tax evasion is a major issue. In others, revenues are collected by one set of authorities but never duly transferred to the roads sector. It is estimated that as much as 50 percent of fuel levies fail to be captured by the road sector." ¹⁰⁷PPP Refence Guide (n 72) 26



Figure 2.4 Hidden cost of utility inefficiency

Source: World Bank Africa Diagnostic, 2013

2.5.2. Political risks

Political stability is essential since instability of any kind can disrupt a project and lead to excessive losses to the private partner either through expropriation or cost overruns. Political risk can be through the arbitrary exercise of political power by having longer permitting or licensing procedures in the development phase; cancellation of permits and contract renegotiation at the construction phase; change in tariff and tax regulation; currency convertibility; shift in contract duration or even asset transfer.¹⁰⁸

There is also a general lack of good governance and leadership with most countries experiencing high levels of corruption in the public sector which in turn makes the cost of doing business quite high for investors. In 2017, experts and business people observed that Sub-Saharan Africa was the most corrupt region globally, scoring 32 out of 100.¹⁰⁹ This can be a deterrence to investors most of whom have limited knowledge about the African economy save for publicly available data.

2.5.3. Legal and regulatory frameworks

With the ever-changing rules related to project finance, there is need for comprehensive and stable laws that encourage but not hinder private investment. The Basel III requires banks to maintain high capital allocation for long-term loans to infrastructure providers, and the high cost of matching long-term assets with liabilities with a similar duration has dis-incentivized the banking sector from participating in infrastructure projects.¹¹⁰ Solvency II regulatory framework on the pension funds and insurance companies in the European Union penalizes long-term investments of insurers and pension funds, including infrastructure assets.¹¹¹ Similarly, the rule that the rating agencies' sovereign ceiling does not allow an individual project rating to exceed that of the country where it is located has a significant impact on emerging markets.¹¹² The majority of developing

¹⁰⁸OECD 2015 (n 33) 48

¹⁰⁹<u>https://www.transparency.org/news/feature/corruption_perceptions_index_2017</u> accessed on 14/04/2018 ¹¹⁰Klaus Maurer (n 105) 13

¹¹¹Ibid

¹¹²Ibid
countries in Africa have low credit ratings or do not have any rating at all meaning their projects however good, may miss the investment grade and investors.

Additionally, the lack of standardization of underlying infrastructure projects is a significant impediment to the scaling up of investment into infrastructure-based assets.¹¹³ The lack of objective high-quality data on infrastructure and a clear and agreed benchmark makes it difficult for investors to assess the risk in these investments and to understand correlations with investment returns of other assets; which make investors reluctant to invest.¹¹⁴

2.5.4. Lack of risk mitigation strategies

2.5.4.1. Lack of appropriate financing vehicles

Investment vehicles are products such as bonds, mutual funds, and exchange-traded funds that can be chosen by investors based on their preferred return on investment.¹¹⁵ Many large institutional investors are too far away from infrastructure projects and have great difficulties understanding the asset class and its underlying risks¹¹⁶hence the need for infrastructure vehicles. They lack the in-house expertise needed to assess and manage the risks associated with PPPs or how to design contracts with revenue profiles which match their need for reliable long-term returns. Attracting institutional investors on a large scale requires appropriate intermediary structures between large institutional investors and projects on the ground for more indirect investment opportunities like infrastructure funds or projects.

Traditionally, institutional investors invested in infrastructure through listed companies and fixed income investments which are still their primary source of exposure.¹¹⁷ Bond finance in new projects is low due to the financial crisis save for less risky projects-otherwise project bonds are not attractive to investors. One way to raise the attractiveness of project bonds has been to obtain insurance from specialist insurers known as monolines.¹¹⁸ However, the disappearance of monolines in the capital market has negatively impacted the infrastructure market.

As discussed in Chapter One, there is a lot of liquidity in the world economy, and the cost of debt is also low, yet many developing countries struggle to attract long-term financing for infrastructure projects. In addition, development banks which have the resources, expertise and experience to compensate for limited private sector financing and few market options, cannot exceed their

¹¹³Rabah Arezki and others (n 62) 37

¹¹⁴Della Croce et al (n 14) 28

¹¹⁵https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/investmentvehicle.asp accessed 16 July 2018

¹¹⁶Klaus Maurer (n 105) 21

¹¹⁷Della Croce et al (n 14) 24

¹¹⁸Della Croce et al (n 14) 20

maximum lending capacity.¹¹⁹ Similarly, most sovereign wealth funds target developed, and not developing countries for infrastructure investment because there are too few large-scale projects in developing economies to attract sovereign wealth funds.¹²⁰

To balance the limited lending capacity of development banks and the limited number of projects for sovereign wealth funds, there is need to coordinate and cooperate across the various platforms in existence to create a global infrastructure investment platform to help developing countries structure bankable projects; part of the coordination should also lead to risks being assumed by those best placed to hold them.¹²¹

2.5.4.2. Lack of sufficient risk mitigating and financing instruments

Risk-mitigating instruments are financial instruments that transfer defined risks from project financiers (lenders and equity investors) to creditworthy third parties (guarantors and insurers) that have a better capacity to accept such risks.¹²²If host countries design long-term infrastructure projects without providing for guarantees to address construction, demand, exchange rate risks or without the securitization of underlying assets by financial intermediaries, those projects will not be funded, thus leaving everyone worse off.¹²³ To access infrastructure projects, institutional investors need instruments such as bonds since they are the primary asset in portfolio allocations of insurers and pension funds across OECD countries.

The barriers enumerated and explained above need to be addressed comprehensively by countries in Sub-Saharan Africa, to attract private sector investment in infrastructure projects.

2.6. Summary

In this Chapter we sought to answer four questions: i) why should PPPs be used to procure infrastructure investment and not traditional public sector procurement; ii) when should PPPs be used; iii) what are the conditions necessary to achieve a successful PPP regime; and iv) what are the barriers to active private sector participation in PPP projects. To answer these questions, we distinguished public sector procurement of infrastructure from Public-Private Partnerships. We established that weak institutional design, lack of strategic planning, institutional incapacity, and financial constraints were the significant limitations of the conventional procurement model in filling infrastructure gap. We argued that in some instances where conditions for a successful PPP

¹¹⁹<u>http://unctad.org/en/pages/PressRelease.aspx?OriginalVersionID=270</u> accessed 16 July 2018

¹²⁰Ibid

¹²¹Ibid

¹²²Matsukawa Tomoko and Habeck Odo, Review of Risk Mitigation Instruments for Infrastructure Financing and Recent Trends and Developments (The World Bank 2007), xi ¹²³Rabah Arezki and others (n 62) 38

were in place, the private sector was better placed to help fill the infrastructure gap through PPP since they possess expertise in the projects; ensuring quality output and timely delivery.

We also distinguished Public-Private Partnerships from Privatization; where privatization entails the permanent transfer of a public asset to the private sector whereas under PPPs transfer is only temporary. The primary advantage of PPPs over privatization was that using partial control and reversion of ownership of a public asset; the government could use this power to solve coordination and planning problems, in contrast to privatization.

We noted that PPPs are not a solution for all infrastructural challenges and advised that they may not be used where the contracting authority cannot specify the requirements of the project, where there was lack of third party finance, where there was rapid technological change in the sector thereby creating uncertainty and where it was challenging to substitute suppliers.

We discussed the preconditions necessary to ensure a successful PPP regime which included clear contractual terms. We distinguished complete from incomplete contracts and argued in favor of incomplete agreements given the long-term nature of PPP projects and their complexity. We found that incomplete agreements give room for renegotiation where unforeseeable events arise. The other preconditions were good governance and operational maturity, sound legal and regulatory framework, a good investment environment, strong financial facilities and appropriate risk analysis and allocation.

We found that lack of bankable projects, political risks, lack of mitigation strategies and underdeveloped regulatory frameworks were the major barriers to active private participation in infrastructure financing. In Chapter 3 we shall discuss the investment barriers in the Ugandan context to identify specifically what private investors in Uganda consider as the main barriers in PPP projects.

CHAPTER 3. PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS IN UGANDA

3.1. Introduction

In Chapter Two, we established that due to limitations in traditional public sector procurement of infrastructure, alternative procurement models were required to fill the infrastructure gap. Because of their long-term nature and ability to attract private sector expertise and financing, we found PPPs to be a suitable option especially where the public sector suffered institutional incapacity and budgetary constraints. The preconditions for a successful PPP regime were discussed; emphasizing that absence of these conditions would largely affect the success of an otherwise good project. We also established that despite their high yield and long-term nature in line with institutional investors' portfolio allocations, the private sector was hesitant to invest in PPP projects worldwide. In Uganda alone, the total value of private investments declined from UGX 16,983 billion to UGX 8,525 billion by the end of December 2016.¹²⁴ We found the possible reasons for the reduction of private investment in PPPs to be; lack of bankable projects, political risks, poor regulatory framework and insufficient risk mitigation strategies. It remains to be seen in this chapter whether these reasons are relevant to the Ugandan situation.

In this Chapter we intend to find out whether Uganda fulfills the preconditions necessary to sustain a successful PPP regime by analyzing the status of PPPs and the macroeconomic environment in Uganda to date.

3.2. Public-Private Partnerships in Uganda

In this subsection we discuss the PPP environment in Uganda generally and the underlying issues that need redress while using examples from the transport sector. The PPP regime is relatively new in Uganda with most of infrastructure projects focused on the energy sector and being implemented through concession model; before the enactment of the Public-Private Partnerships Act, 2015. The priority PPP projects as outlined then are listed in the table below.

¹²⁴Uganda Economic Update (n 5) 4

Project	Sponsoring Agency	Model	Cost	Implementati	Status
				on schedule	
Kampala-Jinja	Uganda National	PPP-DBFO	USD 800	2012/13	Project procurement launched
Express	Roads Authority		million		on May 2018 ¹²⁵
Highway					
Ayago Hydro	Ministry of Energy and	PPP-DBFO	USD 1.3	2012/13	A prefeasibility study carried
power station	Mineral Development		billion		out
Oil Refinery	Ministry of Energy and	PPP-DBFO	USD 2	2012/13	Ministry in the process of
	Mineral Development		billion		procuring transaction advisors
Kigo Prison	Uganda Prison	PPP	Not yet	2012/13	Procurement of transaction
	Services/Ministry of		determined		advisor has commenced
	Internal Affairs				
Office	Ministry of Lands,	РРР	USD 15	2012/13	Procurement of transaction
accommodation-	Housing and Urban		million		advisor has commenced
Ministry of	Development				
Lands, Housing					
and Urban					
Development					
Upgrade of	Civil Aviation	РРР	USD 130	2012/13	Feasibility study. Preparation
Entebbe Airport	Authority, Ministry of		million		for the procurement of a
	Works and Transport				transaction advisor
Malaba-Kampala	Ministry of Works and	ррр	Yet to be	2012/13	Feasibility study to determine
Standard Gauge	Transport		determined		the viability of the project is
Railway					underway
Mulago Maternal	Ministry of Health	ррр	USD 34	2012/13	Still at concept stage
and Neonatal			million		
Hospital					
Isimba Hydro	Ministry of Energy and	ррр	USD 350	2012/13	Feasibility study still being
Power Station	Mineral Development		million		carried out
Mini-Hydro	Ministry of Energy and	РРР	Yet to be	None	Ministry of Energy and Mineral
Power Plants	Mineral Dev't		determined		Dev't

 Table 3.1 Priority Public-Private Partnership Projects

Source: *PPP Project Pipeline* (www.perds.go.ug)

According to Table 1, the Ministry of Energy has majority of the projects planned for PPP. This can only point to the laxity in the transport sector to develop projects that are bankable for

¹²⁵<u>https://www.unra.go.ug/en/kampala-jinja-expressway/status-may2018</u> accessed 12 June 2018

consideration by the National Planning Authority, Ministry of Finance and ultimately the PPP Unit. As can be seen from the table, most of the projects have not yet been implemented, with no visible sponsor or private investor to-date and this points to gaps in the system that have otherwise been an impediment to the commencement and delivery of PPP projects.

That being the case, does Uganda satisfy the preconditions of a successful PPP regime as discussed in Chapter 2? Secondly are the conditions in Uganda sufficient to attract extensive private investment into PPP projects? We discuss these preconditions of a successful PPP regime vis a viz the current environment in Uganda.

To ensure that a project is successfully completed, there is need for strong PPP governance and operational maturity. The transport sector in Uganda is characterized by premature failures, high construction costs, poor safety of road users, and lack of or poor environmental and social safeguards among others.¹²⁶ The above-mentioned issues can be ascribed to weaknesses in: (a) Planning and Design; (b) Procurement and; (c) Project implementation/delivery.¹²⁷ These factors can be viewed as resulting from various deeper-lying inadequacies affecting the transport sector, such as: (a) weak legal, policy and institutional frameworks; (b) inadequate human resource capacities and; (c) weak local construction industry.¹²⁸ Inasmuch as these issues have been mentioned in the transport sector, they are cross-cutting to almost all sectors.

Institutional capacity remains limited as reflected by weaknesses related to public financial management and shortcomings in the budget planning and implementation.¹²⁹ This includes under-execution of the development budget due to challenges in project implementation and frequent use of supplementary budgets, which pose challenges in scaling-up public infrastructure investment and managing the rise in debt burden incurred to finance it.¹³⁰

Transport sector capacity is generally considered weak, underlined recently by major cases of misappropriation of public funds and violation of environmental and social standards in major road construction projects.¹³¹ There is need for capacity building in the sector to improve overall performance and to safeguard private investments and donor funding against misappropriation.

Additionally, the local construction industry which includes student and professional members, as well as private consulting and contracting engineering firms, are still perceived as insufficiently

¹²⁶The European Commission, 'Action Document for Institutional Capacity Building for the Transport Sector in Uganda' (2016), 6 <u>https://ec.europa.eu/.../devco/files/decision-aap-uganda-2016</u> en.pdf accessed 21 June 2018

¹²⁷Ibid

¹²⁸ibid

¹²⁹'Moody's Affirms Uganda's B2 Ratings, Maintains Stable Outlook' (*Moodys.com*, 2018), 2 ¹³⁰Ibid

¹³¹The European Commission (n 126) 3

skilled to participate in large infrastructure projects.¹³² Civil society is not yet strongly involved in the sector, neither in an advocacy role for infrastructure users nor as a watchdog monitoring sector accountability and social and environmental impacts of large infrastructure investments.¹³³

Further, the PPP Unit in Uganda comprises the Acting Director, a consultant and 3 temporary staff who were not competitively recruited as per section 3 of the PPP Act but rather seconded from Privatization and Utility Sector Reform Project (PURSP).¹³⁴ This means the PPP unit is not adequately equipped to handle complexities involved in PPP projects. The need for an updated centralized PPP unit composed of skilled personnel is important to encourage coordination of projects among different ministries, agencies and departments.

As discussed in Chapter 2, PPPs are long lived contracts and their viability depends on a clear and detailed legal and regulatory framework. Private investors' interests can be protected either through legislation, policy frameworks like investment plans or contractual terms. Edward Farquharson et al. advise that "when assessing a PPP market, the private sector expects to see a PPP policy that sets out i) the public policy rationale for using PPPs; ii) the guidelines that the public sector will use to select, prepare, and procure PPP projects in a consistent way; iii) the determination of who approves what and when, throughout the process of project selection, preparation, and procurement; iv) the process of resolving disputes (often set out in legislation or in sector regulations, but often in more detail in the contract itself) and v) the arrangements for monitoring the contract after it has been signed."¹³⁵ Investors are likely to be discouraged to participate in projects of the host country if these expectations are not met.

Regarding the regulatory framework in Uganda, substantial sector policies are still very rudimentary, and there is at present no master plan that would allow for a more comprehensive planning approach, based on traffic and freight demand; an assessment of existing asset value; gender analysis; and a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) on a multimodal transport network.¹³⁶ The lack of standard appraisal requirements is also a hindrance to Uganda's program of large infrastructure projects.

We found contract standardization, together with good laws, to be helpful in ensuring transparency thereby creating certainty among investors on requirements needed for a successful bid. Given the complex nature of PPP projects, there is need for expertise both for the public and private sector

¹³²Ibid 5

¹³³Ibid

¹³⁴Office of the Auditor general, 'Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements of Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development for the Financial Year Ended 30th June 2017' (2017), 6 ¹³⁵Eduard Farquharson et al. (n 28) 16

¹³⁶The European Commission (n 126) 3

to be able to draft and enforce the contract, implement and monitor the projects up to successful completion of the same. The PPP contract should put in place contract management tools to address unexpected circumstances and should embody the legitimate expectations of the parties and help ensure that they are met.¹³⁷ In assessing government's capability and commitment, the PPP procurement benchmark measures aspects such as monitoring and evaluation mechanisms for PPPs, alterations to the structure of the private partner, renegotiation of the contractual terms, alternatives for dispute resolution, and contract features such as lenders' step-in rights, contract termination and its consequences.¹³⁸

According to the PPP Benchmark, Uganda scored 68 out of 100 for contract management because Uganda does not have inter alia (a) a PPP implementation manual; (b) specific provisions in the PPP Act for (i) risk mitigation mechanisms, (ii) publication of PPP contract performance information; and (c) the PPP Act provides for arbitration as the only dispute resolution mechanism without other alternatives.¹³⁹ The Act provides for change in SPV structure, lenders' step in rights, contract renegotiation but without giving specific conditions for applying the same.¹⁴⁰ If the law is ambiguous as is the case in Uganda, the contracts will also be ambiguous since they derive their legality and clarity of purpose from guiding laws; an uncomfortable situation for investors.

Wherever possible, an infrastructure plan or priority list is a good way for government to present its investment plans to the private sector and to demonstrate top-level political commitment.¹⁴¹ Also, wherever the opportunity arises, it makes sense to develop programs, that is, a series of PPP projects in specific sectors, as the benefits of replicability for both the costs and the quality of the PPP process can be significant for both the public and the private sectors.¹⁴² Well-prepared investment plans like project pipelines also help the private sector to understand the general environment for individual projects.¹⁴³

In Uganda, a number of PPPs are operational in various Ministries, Departments and Agencies (MDAs) but are not maintained in the Unit inventory as prospective PPP projects and neither are they recognized as PPPs.¹⁴⁴ Management of Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic

¹³⁷'Benchmarking PPP Procurement 2017 | Public Private Partnership' (*Ppp.worldbank.org*, 2017), 45

https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/library/benchmarking-ppp-procurement-2017 accessed 19 June 2018.

¹³⁸Ibid

¹³⁹Benchmarking PPP Procurement 2017 In Uganda (2017)

https://www.procurementinet.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Uganda.pdf accessed 19 June 2018. 140Ibid

¹⁴¹Eduard Farquharson et al. (n 28) 21

¹⁴²Ibid 22

¹⁴³Ibid

¹⁴⁴Office of the Auditor General (n 134) 10

Development explained that the process of PPP Project Screening aimed at development of the PPP Project pipeline was still on-going and the PPP Project pipeline would be in place by 2018 but to date there is nothing.¹⁴⁵ The PPP project pipeline in existence is one which was prepared in 2012 pursuant to the National Development Plan for the period 2010/11-2014/15. A second National Development Plan was issued but still there is no project pipeline reflecting projects to be procured as PPPs. This does not inspire confidence in the private sector since they do not know which projects are of top priority to the country, which shows lack of political commitment.

Publishing the top priority projects can also be an indication of government commitment to investment hence high likelihood of investor protection. A recent IMF Technical Assistance Report for Uganda advise the government to carry out annual reviews and prepare project pipelines to ensure uniformity with the medium-term budgetary scheme for management endorsement.¹⁴⁶ The report further stated that, "There is need for phased development of an integrated project database to track all completed and planned projects, containing information on appraisal, financing, monitoring and evaluation of project outcomes."¹⁴⁷ This would help ensure that the projects in the pipeline are in tandem with the National Development Plan and the country's priority infrastructural needs.

Investors can only make investment decisions if they have access to relevant information regarding cost of the project and risk allocation. Therefore, the information obtained from feasibility studies has to be made available to the intended investors. A feasibility study illustrates affordability of the PPP project and reflects how value for money will be achieved from appropriate risk allocation. However for major investment projects in Uganda, while feasibility studies are commonly carried out, for donor funded projects, these are not published.¹⁴⁸ Donors just like other investors and lenders, play a big role in Uganda's infrastructure development and could be instrumental in attracting funds either through direct investment (grants, concessional loans or equity) or by providing risk mitigating instruments to a project only if they have the right information.

In the PPP Guidelines for Local Governments in Uganda, it was noted that partners lacked access to relevant information concerning PPP projects.¹⁴⁹ It is pertinent to know whether investors are interested in brownfield or greenfield projects, mega or smaller projects, specific transport

145Ibid

¹⁴⁶'2017 Article IV Consultation and Eighth Review under the Policy Support Instrument-Press Release; Staff Report; and Statement by the Executive Director for Uganda' (2017), 21 <u>http://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/CR/2017/cr17206.ashx</u> accessed 21 June 2018

¹⁴⁷Ibid

¹⁴⁸Suzanne Flynn and others, 'Uganda Fiscal Transparency Evaluation' (2017), 32 <u>http://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/CR/2017/cr17130.ashx</u> accessed 21 June 2018 ¹⁴⁹Ministry of Local Government (n 16) 21

subsector or multi-modal transport investment to design projects that not only suit their interests but also address Uganda's development needs. This would require engaging stakeholders early in the design of PPP projects so that they are not met with public resistance or investor disinterest. These stakeholders include the contracting authorities, lenders, investors, donors, engineering fraternity, civil society and the community.

In Chapter 2 we noted that PPPs are successful in jurisdictions where there is political stability and a sound business environment. Investors and lenders into the country where the project is situated are likely to be concerned about political stability if the project is located in a developing country that is politically unstable or has a lower credit rating.¹⁵⁰ For a strong business environment, rating agencies only acknowledge sovereign bonds which are classified as investment grade (Baa3) or higher in their system, because such ratings reflect the level of political risk connected to the host country among other factors.¹⁵¹ Unfortunately, Uganda is rated B₂ by Moody's, ¹⁵² below investment grade.

Secondly, Uganda's vulnerability to event risk remains elevated, in particular to the risks posed by the domestic political environment, which is dominated by uncertainty related to the lack of a succession plan, an increasingly fragmented political landscape and popular discontent, especially among young people.¹⁵³ Uganda is also exposed to the geopolitical risk emanating from unstable political conditions in neighboring countries, particularly South Sudan, that has caused mass migration in recent years.¹⁵⁴ Therefore in order to attract private investments, there appropriate risk allocation and sufficient risk mitigating instruments to protect private sector investments from eminent effects of political unrest.

Regarding the presence of financial facilities to promote PPPs, it is important for governments to have a good track record of honoring their contractual obligations since PPPs are heavily dependent on debt financing, repayment of which is reduced to contractual terms. According to Moody's report on Uganda, no default events (on bonds or loans) have been recorded since 1983.¹⁵⁵ No new guarantees were issued in FY 2017/18. The total exposure of Uganda as at December 2017 amounts to US\$ 110,233,558 including a Partial Risk Guarantee to a PPP.¹⁵⁶ With the exception of the Phoenix Logistics Project for which government was called to honor its

¹⁵⁰Ibid (n 8) 301

¹⁵¹https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sovereign-credit-rating.asp accessed 15 May 2018

¹⁵²Moody's Report (n 129)

¹⁵³Ibid

¹⁵⁴Ibid

¹⁵⁵Ibid 3

¹⁵⁶Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development, 'Report on Public Debt Guarantees and other Financial Liabilities and Grants for Financial Year 2017/18' (2018), 32

obligations to JBIC in FY 2012/13, all projects for which government guarantees were issued are performing well.¹⁵⁷ In this aspect, Uganda is still performing well. However, the fact that no new guarantees were issued in FY 2017/18 or any other alternative risk mitigating instruments adopted, there is a gap in risk mitigation of infrastructure projects.

When it comes to interest rates, the Bank of Uganda lowered the Central Bank Rate (CBR) significantly at several points throughout FY 2016/17 from 17 percent in 2016 to 10.0 percent in June 2017.¹⁵⁸ The intention behind these rates was to boost private investment by reducing the cost of credit to the investors. However commercial banks reduced their lending rates by only a very limited degree from 23.5 percent in June 2016 to 20.5 percent in April 2017¹⁵⁹ which means the cost of credit is still high and not all private investors are willing to incur those costs.

Additionally, government liquidity risk remains elevated, given the absence of a diversified funding structure and the government's increasing reliance on domestic debt, whose structure carries higher refinancing risk compared with the external debt, due to its shorter-term nature.¹⁶⁰ The high reliance on the banking system, which holds more than 40% of government securities in 2017, and uncertainty surrounding the financing strategy created by the use of supplementary budgets also weighs on Moody's assessment of the liquidity risk.¹⁶¹

In a bid to promote investment, the government of Uganda introduced new tax exemptions for private investors. However, Staff of International Monetary Fund (IMF) noted that "General tax exemptions do not necessarily boost investment and that accelerated depreciation allowances are a better alternative; for example, a direct subsidy to the Bujagali power station, instead of tax exemption, would have been a more transparent measure to reduce cost of electricity and would facilitate an informed discussion of budget priorities."¹⁶²

3.3. Summary

Public Private Partnerships are still new in Uganda with an official PPP Act published in 2015. Most projects in the current PPP pipeline have not yet been implemented and still lack sponsors

¹⁵⁷Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development, 'Report on Public Debt (Domestic and External Loans), Guarantees and Other Financial Liabilities and Grants for Financial Year 2015/16' (2016), 28

¹⁵⁸Uganda Economic Update (n 5) 7

¹⁵⁹Ibid

[&]quot;The limited financial depth means that the policy actions have had only a limited impact on economic activity, with the proportion of the private sector having access to commercial loans remaining low. The loans denominated in foreign currency also create a significant exchange rate risk for borrowers, whose earnings are shilling-denominated (page 9)."

¹⁶⁰Moody's Report (n 129)

¹⁶¹Ibid

¹⁶²²⁰¹⁷ Article IV (n 146) 17

to date. The project pipeline is also based on an outdated National Development Plan (NDP) drafted in 2012. There has since been a second NDP but there is no project pipeline reflecting the priority infrastructure projects of the public sector.

We found that Uganda does not satisfy the preconditions of a successful PPP regime in the transport sector which are; good governance and operational maturity, good legal and regulatory framework, safe investment climate, mature financial facilities, appropriate risk allocation and contract standardization. This can be attributed to the lack of institutional capacity in the transport and public sector which is reflected in the failure to design bankable projects and under execution of budgets within the transport sector.

We also found that the PPP Unit is not fully constituted according to the PPP Act and therefore unable to carry out its functions as required. The legal and regulatory framework was found to be weak with the PPP Act lacking specific provisions on contract management and alternative dispute resolution mechanisms.

Failure to publish feasibility studies and other relevant information was found to create information asymmetry and concern among the public sector, private investors and donors. Uganda is still perceived to be politically unstable due to strikes, lack of a succession plan and conflicts affecting the neighboring countries are believed may spill over. With Uganda being ranked below investment grade, there is need for strong financial facilities, but the country lacks diversified funding structures and instruments to cater for investors' needs.

In the next chapter, we shall investigate whether the limitations cited in Chapter 3 are indeed a barrier to private investment in infrastructure. We will do so by analyzing and interpreting the survey responses from private investors in Uganda. The results will inform us on which limitations are considered more pressing by investors and ultimately need immediate redress.

CHAPTER FOUR. SURVEY ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION

4.1. Introduction

As has been emphasized in the previous chapters, there is high demand for infrastructure investment with the growth of some sectors like telecommunications proving that citizens have the ability and willingness to pay for better-quality infrastructure.¹⁶³ However there are factors affecting the supply side of PPP projects both at country and project level which are an impediment to mobilization of private sector resources in Uganda. These factors will be discussed by analyzing and interpreting the survey results below.

In the survey, we seek to know directly from the investors what the barriers to private investment in infrastructure in Uganda are. This chapter contributes to prior literature in that we seek to determine directly from the investors, through a survey, what they consider before investing in infrastructure and so directly address these concerns if any; while comparing their responses with existing theories and literature.

We survey private investors to better understand their role in the development of infrastructure in Uganda. Consistent with several theories, we document the factors investors consider when making investment decisions and the barriers to active private sector participation in PPP projects. We look at determining factors and barriers to investment both at country and project level. We find that institutional investors are less involved in the development of infrastructure and investment by other players in the private sector is hampered by poor project selection, political instability, unattractive rate of returns from projects, insufficient financial instruments among others.

Theoretical and empirical research on Public Participation in Infrastructure makes assumptions and draws inferences regarding the role of private investors especially institutional investors in filling the infrastructure gap in many economies. However, we have little direct knowledge regarding what private investors consider when making investment decisions in Uganda because many of these decisions are made on a case by case basis.

Recent studies show that because institutional investors are predominantly looking for steady, inflation-adjusted income streams, they will be primarily interested in mature, operating assets that

¹⁶³'Uganda Economic Outlook' (PwC, 2018), 4

https://www.pwc.com/ug/en/publications/economic-outlook.html accessed 14 June 2018

[&]quot;The main drivers of growth in the services sector were Information & Communication (2.9%), Financial services & Insurance (2.6%), Public Administration (1.4%), Education (3.3%) and Health (0.5%)."

already generate cash flow and that are in stable regulatory and macroeconomic environments.¹⁶⁴ Secondly, the Preqin report highlights that 72% of projects completed were either existing or secondary stage infrastructure assets (59% secondary stage and 13% brownfield); while new products accounted for only 28% of deals concluded since 2008.¹⁶⁵ However in the past, problems with cash flows and long-term profitability were clearly among the most important reasons that brownfield concessions became so unpopular so quickly.¹⁶⁶ The PPI Project Database confirms that brownfield concessions are far more likely to experience contractual distress than other forms of long-term PPI.¹⁶⁷ In 1990–98 the share of brownfield concessions that were canceled or became distressed was 41 percent higher than that for greenfield projects.¹⁶⁸ As business transactions, many brownfield concessions turned out to be far less profitable than expected; with the assets often in a much poorer condition than expected and requiring more basic rehabilitation and investment before they could start generating higher revenue.¹⁶⁹ Subsequently, in 2017, new undeveloped projects accounted for almost four-fifths of all PPI deals.¹⁷⁰ Against these conflicting statistics, we seek to understand from investors in Uganda whether they prefer greenfield to brownfield projects and vice versa.

Studies have also found that the larger the pension fund or insurance company, the larger the minimum project size.¹⁷¹ The PPI Annual Report states that "Globally, the average project size increased by 26 percent from US\$244 million in 2016 to US\$307 million in 2017 and the median project size only increased by eight percent (up from US\$95 million to US\$103 million), which indicates that mega projects had a significant impact in 2017."¹⁷² Regarding the project sector, the Preqin special report found that the energy, transport, utilities and telecommunications sectors remained the most substantial sectors in terms of deal flow. The report further states that in 2014, the energy sector was the most desirable sector, ranking at 3.9, followed by transport and utilities at 3.6 and 3.4 respectively, while social infrastructure and telecom were the least at 3.2 and 3.0

¹⁶⁵Preqin Special Report: Infrastructure Transaction Activity (2014), 4

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10.1.1.642.1751 accessed 18 June 2018.

¹⁶⁴Georg Inderst and Fiona Stewart, 'Institutional Investment in Infrastructure in Emerging Markets and Developing Economies' (*Library.pppknowledgelab.org*, 2014), 7

https://library.pppknowledgelab.org/PPIAF/documents/1918 accessed 18 June 2018.

http://docs.preqin.com/reports/Preqin Special Report Infrastructure Deals February 2014.pdf accessed 18 June 2018.

¹⁶⁶James Leigland, 'The Rise and Fall of Brownfield Concessions but Some Signs of Recovery after a Decade of Decline' (*Citeseerx.ist.psu.edu, 2018*), ix

¹⁶⁷Ibid ¹⁶⁸Ibid

¹⁶⁹Ibid

^{170&#}x27;2017 Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Annual Report' (Ppi.worldbank.org, 2017), 6

http://ppi.worldbank.org/~/media/GIAWB/PPI/Documents/Global-Notes/PPI 2017 AnnualReport.pdf accessed 20 June 2018 ¹⁷¹Klaus Maurer (n 105)

¹⁷²PPI Annual Report (n 170) 2 & 5

respectively.¹⁷³ In 2017, the World Bank reported that "Private investment commitments in energy, transport, ICT backbone and water infrastructure in low- and middle-income countries totaled US\$93.3 billion across 304 projects."¹⁷⁴ These findings suggest that project size and project sector matter to private investors and we seek to determine whether these play a role in the investment decision of the private sector in Uganda.

Regarding infrastructure financing which totaled US\$61.6 billion, contributions were as follows: public sector accounted for 25 percent (US\$14.9 billion) of the total infrastructure financing, private sector contributed 45 percent (US\$28.1 billion), and the remaining 30 percent (US\$18.7 billion) were from development banks.¹⁷⁵ We see that globally, the private sector is actively investing in infrastructure. However, the ICA reports that the value of projects with private sector participation reaching financial close in 2016 was \$3.6bn, a significant decrease on private capital recorded in recent years; that is \$7.4bn in 2015 and \$5.1bn in 2014.¹⁷⁶ The global trend shows willingness of the private sector to invest in infrastructure but the trend in Africa is that there is declining interest in infrastructure investment by the private sector. The survey will highlight the cause of this disinterest by answering what the barriers to PPI in Uganda are.

The 30 respondents to our survey, mostly lawyers and employees in the public sector, indicate that Uganda is still heavily dependent on traditional public procurement of infrastructure as discussed in the previous chapters. The presence of lawyers however will be informative in the next sections since they offer legal advice to their clients and participate in drafting of contracts which is the principle component of PPPs. Their responses are representative of their clients' views on PPI.

Nevertheless, the absence of institutional investors also indicates that they face impediments to their activism, with the most important hurdles being scarcity of well-structured bankable infrastructure projects, political risks, poor legal and regulatory frameworks and lack of risk mitigation strategies. Our results show that the investors suffer lack of transparency in procurement and bidding process (56.67%), lack of coordination between departments in the public sector (50%), problems with land acquisition (46.67%) and unclear legal and regulatory framework (36.67%) as the biggest challenges at project level in Uganda. Challenges with financing include unattractive expected returns on investment (40%), limited options of financing instruments (30%), lack of government guarantee (23.33%) as the biggest obstacles to investment.

¹⁷³Preqin Report (2014) (n 165) 6

¹⁷⁴PPI Annual Report (n 170)1

¹⁷⁵Ibid 14

¹⁷⁶Infrastructure Consortium for Africa (n 9) 12

We contribute to the literature by providing direct evidence of private investors' preferences and challenges in PPI. The few related studies also using direct evidence have examined engagement of the private sector globally or in Africa as a continent. However, given that each of these studies focuses on a general spectrum and not Uganda particularly, the extent to which this evidence can be generalized is unclear. Although this evidence is important, different jurisdictions are operating under different circumstances in that data applied to one country may not be relevant to another. Thus, our evidence is important in providing a more specific view of investor activities in Uganda. The response from our participants highlights the importance of our survey approach and suggests that there are deeper underlying issues that investors consider than would be inferred from observational and generalized data only.

Section A describes the survey. Section B presents results on general preference in infrastructure investment. Section C studies the determining factors for private investment at country level. Section D presents results on determining factors for and barriers to private investment at project level, Section E reports factors investors consider and challenges they face when financing a project and Section F concludes.

Section A. Survey Response

Respondent Characteristics

Table 4.I shows the occupation of the respondents and given their positions, we expect our respondents to be very knowledgeable about their clients' (government and private sector) preferences and actions regarding infrastructure investment. The largest numbers of respondents are lawyers (33.33%) and civil servants (30%). The rest of the respondents are 6.67% from the university, 3.3% from the bank, insurance company and private equity firm each. 20% were in the "Others" category (farming company, Project Support Company, civil society/donor, law and governance, International Development Agency and Private Limited Company). Participants from government included Uganda National Roads Authority, Uganda Revenue Authority, Inspectorate of Government, Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development, Ministry of Works and Transport, National Planning Authority and other semi-autonomous agencies that were not specified. The respondents were chosen based on their involvement in infrastructure development as experts or advisors in the field and so information from the survey should be reliable.

When tested on their knowledge of Private Participation in Infrastructure development, 80% said they had reasonable knowledge on the subject, 3.33% had extensive knowledge whilst 16.67% had limited knowledge (*Figure 4.1*).

The glaring absence of pension funds and the limited participation of insurance companies and banks in the survey is an indication that financial institutions and institutional investors are still hesitant or lack the knowledge to even discuss the topic of infrastructure financing, hence their lackluster performance on the market.

#	Field	%	Count
1	Bank	3.33%	1
2	Insurance Company	3.33%	1
3	Government (please specify)	30.00%	9
4	University	6.67%	2
5	Pension Fund	0.00%	0
6	Law firm	33.33%	10
7	Financial services firm	0.00%	0
8	Private equity firm	3.33%	1
9	Mutual Fund Management Company	0.00%	0
10	Other (please specify)	20.00%	6
	Total	100%	30

 Table 4.1. Respondents' employers

Figure 4.1. Knowledge of PPI



Investor optimism over infrastructure projects

A survey by PwC revealed that respondents in East and West Africa are counting more on a mix of private sector and government funding or private sector debt and equity.¹⁷⁷ Nearly half of the respondents (49%) indicated that the traditional procurement model, where the owner finances and operates a project, will be used more frequently, while almost as many (45%) indicated that

http://www.pwc.co.za/infrastructure accessed 20 July 2018.

¹⁷⁷Trends, Challenges and Future: Capital Projects and Infrastructure in East Africa, Southern Africa and West Africa (PwC Africa 2014), 11

PPPs, where the external parties participate in the funding, building and operating of the asset, will increase in number.¹⁷⁸ Therefore we expect our respondents to be optimistic with a bit of hesitancy since PPP projects are fairly new.

Indeed, when asked, most of our respondents were somewhat optimistic (53.33%), strongly optimistic (30%), neutral (13.33%) and pessimistic (3.33%) about investing in infrastructure projects in Uganda.

Section B. General Preference in Infrastructure Investment

Greenfield vs Brownfield projects

PPPs have two types of assets namely greenfield and brownfield projects.¹⁷⁹ A survey by PwC Africa found that investors are typically more interested in projects that are fully operational and shy away from greenfield projects and their construction risks.¹⁸⁰ On the contrary, we expect our respondents to opt for greenfield projects. This is so because Uganda is a developing country with a wide infrastructure gap and a limited number of already existing infrastructure for refurbishment whereby, to close the gap, there is need for new infrastructure projects. Secondly the brownfield infrastructure in Uganda may be in a much worse condition hence less profitable yet investors are most interested in returns on their investment.

When asked which asset type they preferred, 83.33% (25 out of 30) of our respondents chose greenfield projects compared to only 16.67% for brownfield projects (*Figure 4.2*)





¹⁷⁸Ibid

¹⁷⁹ Greenfield projects are simply new infrastructure whereas brownfield projects involve refurbishment and renovation of already existing infrastructure.

¹⁸⁰Trends, challenges and Future (n 177) 9

The survey results are consistent with the trends in 2017 which indicate that greenfield projects were a preferred choice compared to brownfield projects. Investors in Uganda and globally are still weary of latent project risks that make brownfield projects unprofitable. We believe that it is for these reasons that private investors in Uganda prefer greenfield to brownfield projects.

Mega vs smaller projects

As discussed in Chapter 2, the size of the project is a major issue for large institutional investors as it determines transaction costs. The theory advanced is that the larger the pension fund or insurance company, the larger the minimum project size.¹⁸¹ To illustrate this with an example: Allianz with Assets under Management of US\$2.2 trillion will likely look at minimum deals of US\$300 to 500 million (0.02% of total assets) as the participation of Allianz in IFC's MCPP has shown.¹⁸² The financing trend in East Africa in 2016 was such that East Africa received \$13.1bn for infrastructure.¹⁸³ A large majority of these commitments to the region was directed to transport (\$5.3bn) and energy (\$5.2bn), with the remaining finance destined for water (\$2.5bn), ICT (\$102m) and multi-sector projects (\$90m).¹⁸⁴

If we compare the amount of money involved in these commitments with the theory and illustration above, it is safe to conclude that donors and the private sector are interested in mega projects. Indeed, we expect our respondents to opt for mega projects because of their high returns on profit but also because mega projects enhance investors' profiles among peers in the industry.

When asked, 60% of our respondents preferred mega projects with 40% opting for smaller projects (*Figure 4.3*). In this case, mega projects were defined as those which focus on countrywide and regional investment needs. Mega projects usually have higher transaction costs as compared to smaller projects which were defined to mean those with a focus on local challenges and/or tied to business projects. However, the small 10% gap in preference also shows that investors are not so averse to smaller projects so long as they are well structured.

182Ibid

184Ibid

¹⁸¹Klaus Maurer (n 105) 11

¹⁸³Infrastructure Consortium for Africa (n 9) 93

Figure 4.3. Mega vs Smaller projects



Results from our survey are in line with the findings that private investors will normally opt for mega projects to match their portfolio allocations. This is because mega projects have high investment returns albeit higher risk profiles. However small, especially domestic investors would prefer smaller projects since it is what they can afford. Therefore, size mismatches on either side call for intermediation by either pooling (smaller) projects for a large investor or pooling (smaller) investors for a large infrastructure project.¹⁸⁵

Section C. Determining factors for private sector investment decision at country level

The Preqin report emphasized that most European infrastructure assets had the highest number of deals finalized per year than assets in other regions because of the steady political and commercial environment coupled with the good governance in Europe.¹⁸⁶ In a survey conducted by the Infrastructure Consortium for Africa, the respondents while choosing South Africa as the top destination for private investment based their rankings largely on political and economic security as well as a clear and positive regulatory framework.¹⁸⁷

Based on the ICA survey and Preqin report we conjecture that our respondents will rank political stability, government policy in investor protection and regulatory framework as the determinants for investment at country level.

When asked what three factors private investors considered most important when making investment decisions at country level, the survey results show that respondents consider political stability (70%), government policy in investor protection (70%) and track record of the central government in honoring its obligation to investors (63.33%); as being most important. Respondents also considered clear legal and regulatory framework (50%); corruption level

¹⁸⁵Klaus Maurer (n 105) 11

¹⁸⁶Preqin Report (2014) (n 165) 3

¹⁸⁷Infrastructure Consortium for Africa (n 9) 68

(23.33%); good performance on the ease of doing business index (6.67%); country credit rating (6.67%) and technical expertise of public sector employees in the project (3.33%) (*Table 4.2*).

#Field	Extremely	Very	Moderately	Slightly	Not at	Total
					all	
a. Track record of the central or local	63.33%	26.67%	10%	0%	0%	30
government in honoring its	19	8	3			
obligation to investors/lenders						
b. Government policy in	56.67%	40%	3.33%	0%	0%	30
investor/lender protection	17	12	1			
c. Clear legal and regulatory	46.67%	36.67	10%	6.67%	0%	30
framework to support private	14	11	3	2		
investment						
d. Country credit rating	20%	26.67%	33.33%	16.67%	0%	30
	6	8	10	2		
e. Political stability	70%	26.67%	3.33%	0%	0%	30
	21	8	1			
f. Corruption level	36.67%	33.33%	23.33%	6.67%	0%	30
	11	16	7	2		
g. Good performance on the Ease of	23.33%	53.33%	16.67%	6.67%	0%	30
Doing Business Index	7	16	5	2		
h. Technical expertise of public sector	6.67%	36.67%	30%	26.67%	0%	30
employees in the project	2	11	9	8		

Table 4.2. Determining factors for private sector investment at country level

Table 4.2.1. Three most relevant determining factors at country level

Field	% out of 30	Count out of 30
a. Track record of the central or local government in	63.33%	19
honoring its obligation to investors/lenders		
b. Government policy in investor/lender protection	70%	21
c. Political stability	70%	21

The results confirm existing theories that institutional investors consider the investment climate, macroeconomic conditions, legal and regulatory frameworks of a country before making any investment decision. In this case government policy in investor protection should be considered critically. This is more so the case where Uganda stands at 106 in the ranking of 190 economies

based on the strength of minority investor protection index.¹⁸⁸ As has already been discussed, the projects in Uganda have been marred by corruption scandals, lack of transparency in projects hence underperformance.

Section D. Determining factors for private sector investment decision at project level

The Preqin special report states that core infrastructure industries such as energy (including renewable energy), transportation, utilities and telecommunications remain the most significant sectors in terms of deal flow. In Chapter 2 we established that the prerequisites of a successful PPP regime include institutional capacity to design and implement bankable projects, appropriate allocation of risks; sound financial facilities like capital market maturity for long term debt instruments and a good investment climate.

We asked our respondents what factors they consider most important before choosing a project to invest in. The respondents considered the following as the most important determining factors for investment decision at project level with the least ranking being of little importance: project sector (86.67%), financing structure and instruments (66.67%), project size (56.67%), geographical location (40%) and transparency in project and bidding process (43.33%).

#	Field	Extremely	Very	Moderately	Slightly	Not	Tota
		important	important	important	important	important	1
А	Project sector	60.00%	33.33%	6.67%	0.00%	0.00%	30
	(transport, energy,	18	10	2			
	telecommunication)						
В	Geographical location	33.33%	23.33%	36.67%	3.33%	3.33%	30
	of the project	10	7	11	1	1	
С	Project size in terms of	36.67%	53.33%	3.33%	3.33%	3.33%	30
	investment needs	11	16	1	1	1	
D	Transparency in Project	33.33%	33.33%	30.00%	0.00%	3.33%	30
	and bidding process	10	10	9		1	
Е	Financing structure and	60.00%	36.67%	0.00%	0.00%	3.33%	30
	instruments	18	11			1	

Table 4.3. Determining factors for private sector investment at project level

¹⁸⁸ 'Doing Business 2017: Equal Opportunity for All - Uganda' (*Documents.worldbank.org*, 2017), 68 and 70 <u>http://www.worldbank.org</u> accessed 24 July 2018.

The index focused on six indicators relating to disclosure, director liability, shareholder suits, shareholder rights, ownership and control and corporate transparency in a standard case study.

#	Field	% out of 30	Out of 30
a.	Project sector (transport, energy, telecommunication)	86.67%	26
b.	Project size in terms of investment needs	56.67%	17
с.	Financing structure and instruments	66.67%	20

Table 4.3.1. Three most relevant determining factors at project level

Our findings correlate with the statics above in that the project sector matters because it is what investors consider lucrative seeing as the energy and transport sectors usually have mega projects and as such higher return on investment. The project sector and project size therefore go hand in hand. It is no wonder why social infrastructure receives low investment ratios since the yields therefrom are low. This also explains why in the top priority projects in Uganda's PPP project pipeline, the energy and transport sectors are dominant. The private sector is willing to heavily invest in infrastructure so long as the financing structure of the project is appropriate and there is a variety of financing instruments to cover their interests and protect their investments from risk. This explains why the project sector, size and financing instruments were considered the top three most important determining factors for private sector investment at project level.

Investment barriers at project level

A report by the Boston Consulting Group revealed that investors in Africa found their biggest challenges to be limited public sector capabilities, insufficient political will, policy uncertainty weak regulatory environments and a shortage of available people who possess needed technical skills.as their biggest challenges.¹⁸⁹ Uganda stands at 116 out of 190 economies on the ease of registering property.¹⁹⁰ This is so because registering property in Uganda requires 10.0 procedures, takes 42.0 days and costs 2.6% of the property value;¹⁹¹ which conditions are not conducive for private investors. Additionally, the Global Index Competitiveness report ranks Uganda as follows: transparency in government policy making (68 out of 137), favoritism in decisions of government officials (100/137) and property rights (86/137).¹⁹² With these statistics, we expect that investors in Uganda face challenges regarding land acquisition and transfer, poor regulatory framework and institutional incapacity.

¹⁸⁹ 'Infrastructure Financing in Sub-Saharan Africa: Best Practices from Ten Years in the Field' (2017), 19 https://www.africafc.org/Publications/Publications-Documents/BCG-Report-Africa-May-2017-Electronic-v12may.aspx accessed 24 July 2018

¹⁹⁰Doing Business 2017 (n 188) 49

¹⁹¹Ibid (50

¹⁹² 'The Global Competitiveness Report 2017-2018' (*World Economic Forum,* 2017), 295 <u>https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-competitiveness-report-2017-2018</u> accessed 24 July 2018

When our respondents were asked what major barriers they faced at project level, they ranked lack of transparency in procurement and bidding process (56.67%) as the biggest obstacle; followed by lack of coordination between departments in the public sector (50%), problems with land acquisition (46.67%), unclear legal and regulatory framework for infrastructure investment (36.67%), lack of skills and knowledge of private sector to implement infrastructure projects (30%), complicated structure of PPI projects compared to traditional public procurement (16.67%) and public sector resistance to private involvement (13.33%).

	PROJECT	PROJECT SELECTION						
#Field	Strongly	Agree	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Disagree	Strongly	
	agree		agree	agree nor	disagree		disagree	
				disagree				
a. The structure of Projects that	20%	26.67%	20%	3.33%	13.33%	16.67%	0	
involve private sector participation	6	8	6	1	4	5		
is more complicated compared to								
traditional public procurement								
b. Unclear legal and regulatory	16.67%	33.33%	6.67%	10%	10%	20%	3.33%	
framework for infrastructure	5	10	2	3	3	6	1	
investment								
c. The Public sector is resistant to	13.33%	13.33%	3.33%	20%	23.33%	23.33%	3.33%	
private involvement	4	4	1	6	7	7	1	
	PROCUR	EMENT A	ND BIDDIN	G PROCESS				
d. Lack of skills and knowledge of	16.67%	30%	13.33%	3.33%	10%	23.33%	3.33%	
private sector to implement	5	9	4	1	3	7	1	
infrastructure projects								
e. Lack of transparency in	56.67%	20%	10%	10%	3.33%	0%	0%	
procurement and bidding process	17	6	3	3	1			
f. Inappropriate risk sharing between	20%	36.67%	13.33%	16.67%	6.67%	6.67%	0%	
public and private partners	6	11	11	5	2	2		
	IMPLEM	ENTATIO	N PROCESS		I	-		
g. Land acquisition remains a major	46.67%	26.67%	16.67%	0%	3.33%	6.67%	0%	
obstacle in completing projects on	14	8	5		1	2		
time								
h. Lack of coordination between	50%	30%	16.67%	0%	3.33%	0%	0%	
departments in the public sector	15	9	5		1			

 Table 4.4. Investment barriers at project level

 Table 4.4.1. Three most important barriers

#Field	% out of 30	Count out of 30
a. Lack of transparency in procurement and bidding process	56.67%	17
b. Land acquisition remains a major obstacle in completing projects on time	46.67%	14
c. Lack of coordination between departments in the public sector	50%	15

Section E. Infrastructure Financing

As evidence of political commitment to projects, investors require government support, and this can be either direct or indirect support. The increase in investment levels in 2017 corresponds positively with the rise in government support to projects and shows the the importance of government policy in boosting PPI.¹⁹³ Challenges faced by investors in Africa include financing complexities attributable to narrow financial markets, higher actual and provisional risks, longer project durations, significant cost overruns, and currency mismatches.¹⁹⁴ Access to financing was found to be the third most problematic factor for doing business in Uganda.¹⁹⁵

Based on these facts, we predict that investors will choose availability of government guarantees, risk allocation and expected rate of return as the most important determining factors for financing infrastructure projects; and consequently, barriers too.

We asked participants what factors they considered extremely important when deciding to finance a project. They chose attractive return on investment (83.33%), availability of government guarantee (53.33%), risk allocation (50%), creditworthiness of the sponsor 50%), financing instruments (46.67%), project monitoring mechanism (30%) and involvement of Development Financial Institutions (30%).

Similarly, when asked what barriers private investors faced when financing projects in Uganda, the results revealed that unattractive expected returns on investment (40%), limited options of financing instruments (30%), lack of government guarantee (23.33%), low credit rating of sponsors (13.33%) and inflexible investment timing (10%) were major barriers.

¹⁹³PPI Annual Report (n 170) 18

According to the PPI report, "Direct government support includes government liabilities that directly cover project costs like capital subsidies, revenue subsidies, and land. Indirect government support is given either in the form of contingent liabilities or government policies that support investment namely; guarantees such as the exchange rate, payment, revenue, debt, and tax breaks or benefits extended by the government."

¹⁹⁴Infrastructure Financing in Sub-Saharan Africa (n 189) 19

¹⁹⁵The Global Competitiveness Report (n 192) 294

#	Field	Extremely	Very	Moderately	Slightly	Not at all	Total
a.	The availability of Government	53.33%	36.67%	10%	0%	%	30
	Guarantee	16	11	3			
b.	Expected return on investment	83.33%	13.33%	3.33%	0%	0%	30
		25	4	1			
с.	Project Monitoring Mechanism (the	30%	53.33%	16.67%	0%	0%	30
	flexibility given to financiers to	9	16	5			
	monitor the project)						
d.	Financing instruments	46.67%	43.33%	10%	0%	0%	30
		14	13	3			
e.	Risk Allocation	50%	46.67%	3.33%	0%	0%	30
		15	14	1			
f.	Involvement of Development	30%	33.33%	36.67%	0%	0%	30
	Financial Institutions (MDBs,	9	10	11			
	bilateral development banks) on the						
	project						
g.	Creditworthiness of the sponsor	50%	43.33%	6.67%	0%	0%	30
		15	13	2			

Table 4.5. Determinants of Infrastructure Financing

 Table 4.5.1. Barriers to Infrastructure Financing

#	Field	Strongly	Agree	Somewhat	Neither agree	Somewhat	Disagree	Strongly
		agree		agree	nor disagree	disagree		disagree
a.	Limited options of	30%	30%	23.33%	3.33%	3.33%	10%	0%
	financing instruments	9	9	7	1	1	3	
b.	Unattractive expected	40%	16.67%	23.33%	13.33%	0%	6.67%	0%
	returns on investment	12	5	7	4		2	
c.	Lack of government	23.33%	33.33%	16.67%	16.67%	3.33%	6.67%	0%
	guarantee	7	10	5	5	1	2	

Section F. Summary

Most of our respondents were from the law firms and the public sector with private sector visibly unresponsive. However, this did not reduce the quality of the survey because the presence of the public sector gave us an understanding of the information they receive during their interactions with private investors. Infrastructure projects are heavily reliant on legal advice for and on behalf of investors and so the presence of lawyers was also quite informative as they were deemed to be agents of their clients. We found that investors prefer mega to smaller projects and greenfield to brownfield projects due to their profitability. We also found that greenfield projects being new, were less susceptible to misrepresentation of already poor infrastructure conditions, which is a challenge with brownfield projects. The major determinants for private investment at country level were found to be political stability, government policy in investor protection and track record of the central government honoring its obligations to investors. At project level these factors were project sector and size and the availability of financing structures and instruments.

The major barriers to private investment at project level were found to be lack of transparency in procurement and bidding processes, problems with land acquisition and lack of coordination between departments in the public sector. Regarding infrastructure financing, the determining factors were availability of government guarantee and financing instruments, expected return on investment, appropriate risk allocation and creditworthiness of the project sponsor. Similarly, the major barriers in financing were limited options of financing instruments, unattractive expected returns on investment and lack of government guarantee.

The data obtained from the survey reflects the status of Uganda's PPP environment as was highlighted in Subsection 3.2. Despite the results, respondents expressed optimism in increased private investment in infrastructure projects.

Chapter 4 will discuss how to improve the current conditions in Uganda so as to boost investor confidence and encourage investment.

CHAPTER FIVE. RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1. Introduction

In Chapter One, we found that Uganda had an infrastructure financing gap estimated at US \$0.4 million per annum and that the estimated level of investment required for Uganda to close the infrastructure gaps amounted to almost US\$ 1.4 billion per year in the medium-term. We also established that overall commitments to Africa's infrastructure fell by \$16.4 billion to \$62.5 billion from 2015 to 2016 due to a reduction of \$14.5 billion of reported Chinese funding and a \$4.9 billion reduction of private sector investment. We noted that Public-Private Partnerships could be an alternative to the traditional public procurement of infrastructure and could go a long way in filling the infrastructure gap. However institutional investors like pension funds and insurance firms, who are significant players in the PPP market, are still reluctant to invest in PPP projects because of the actual and perceived risks involved inter alia.

In Chapter Two, we found that the portfolio allocations for private investors, especially institutional investors, are inclined towards investment bonds and an investment horizon tied to the often long term nature of their liabilities.¹⁹⁶ Therefore, we advised host countries to ensure that reliable long-term debt instruments for infrastructure financing, a developed insurance and pension market with useful products for infrastructure risk reduction and interest-rate or exchange-rate hedging instruments are available to boost investor participation in infrastructure financing.¹⁹⁷ One of the considerations for institutional investor portfolio allocation is a sound business and investment environment, which includes transparency, a favorable tax environment and a stable currency and exchange rate.¹⁹⁸ We found that investors are usually concerned about demand risk, construction risk, maintenance risk and policy risks and that they usually ask for guarantees to cover these risks.

In Chapters Three and Four, we found that the major barriers to private investment in infrastructure in Uganda, at project level were lack of transparency in procurement and bidding processes, problems with land acquisition, and lack of coordination between departments in the public sector. Similarly, the major barriers in financing were the limited options of financing instruments, unattractive expected returns on investment, and lack of government guarantee.

In this chapter, we give recommendations on how to overcome some of these challenges. The recommendations in this chapter aim to address the lack of transparency in procurement

¹⁹⁷The Economist Intelligence Unit (n 75) 56

¹⁹⁶Della Croce et al. (n 14) 9-10

¹⁹⁸PPPs for Transportation in the Apec Region (n 76) 16

processes, limited financing options and lack of government guarantee. The decision to address these barriers is hinged on the fact that governance and financing structures are intertwined and need to be dealt with concurrently to enhance efficiency in the local market and boost investor confidence. Legal and regulatory barriers are essential but addressing the same is a long-term solution since any action must go through the parliamentary due process to have comprehensive and effective legislation; which takes a longer time.

Concerning challenges with land acquisition, a Commission of Inquiry was constituted in 2016 to investigate and advise on the gaps in the land laws and policies, particularly, land acquisition, management and registration in Uganda. We expect that the process will yield recommendations to deal with the problems concerning land acquisition.

5.2. Recommendations

We shall discuss the recommendations as follows: (i) governance which deals with the issue of transparency; (ii) financing vehicles and instruments namely government infrastructure bonds and co-investment platforms; and (iii) risk mitigation through guarantees and guarantee fund.

5.2.1. Governance

To deal with the lack of transparency in procurement and bidding processes in PPP transactions, the government needs to create a conducive institutional environment to mitigate risks associated with PPP projects. Creating a conducive environment entails:

- a stable long-term plan for infrastructure development: enhanced certainty and social acceptance regarding novel approaches to infrastructure development especially PPPs; improved accuracy of the infrastructure pipeline; reliability of feasibility studies; credible commitments to provide the necessary authorizations; guidance on environmental reviews;
- ii) certainty of rules about public procurement, permits, expropriation, taxation, litigation, tariff definition among others; and
- iii) bilateral investment treaties and protection agreements that provide international law protection from non-commercial risks associated with cross-border direct investment.¹⁹⁹

The financial regulatory framework including valuation rules, any risk-based capital requirements and other prudential measures for institutional investors should reflect the particular risk characteristics of long-term assets appropriately; consider the investment horizon and typical holding period of these investors; while promoting their soundness and solvency as well as broader

¹⁹⁹OECD 2015 (n 33) 49

financial stability and consumer protection.²⁰⁰ The tax environment and policies should remain stable, predictable, subject to regular monitoring to prevent abuse regarding international competition and regulatory arbitrage; exemptions should be avoided and if necessary applied in a uniform and transparent manner.²⁰¹

Sufficient information sharing should be encouraged with PPP projects published on an accessible forum so as to create awareness to both the investors and end users. Information asymmetry impedes the functioning and liquidity of markets. **Sections 21 and 22** of the PPP Act provide for cost-benefit analysis at project inception and feasibility studies respectively, but both sections are silent on sharing this information with investors. The law should be clear on the publication of this information and define the parameters of information sharing succinctly. The contracting authority together with other stakeholders should carry out awareness campaigns for PPP projects before construction and give periodic public updates on the progress of the projects. Nigeria has immensely improved its disclosure and transparency requirements for PPP projects and this has played a great role in attracting investment and rallying public support since it fosters accountability (see Box 5.1).

²⁰⁰ G20/OECD: *High Level Principles of Long-Term Investment Financing by Institutional Investors* (OECD 2013), 8 <u>http://www.oecd.org/daf/fin/private-pensions/G20-OECD-Principles-LTI-Financing.pdf</u> accessed 27 July 2018. ²⁰¹Ibid

[&]quot;Tax neutrality towards different forms and structures of financing should be promoted. Investment frameworks should be made consistent across countries to facilitate the cross-border flow of long term financing."

Box 5.1. Nigeria's PPP Disclosure Framework

The Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission (ICRC) is the central repository of information on Federal PPP projects in Nigeria. ICRC regularly publishes news and general information on its website, on PPP activities, workshops, events, and basic information on legacy, ongoing, and under-consideration PPPs. However, the information provided was limited to the project title and type, the government agency responsible, the name of the private concessionaire (where selected), and duration of the concession for the projects. In recognition of this limitation, the Commission Partnered with the World Bank to ensure adequate disclosure of PPP contract information. The Commission in collaboration with the World Bank consulted with MDAs, Concessionaires, Financiers, Civil Society Organizations and relevant stakeholders towards the actualization of this exercise.

The World Bank and the ICRC developed a dedicated web portal for the disclosure of all the PPP contracts information. The portal will ensure timely disclosure of contract information from project initiation through to the implementation and hand-back phase of PPP projects to the Government. The portal can disclose projects by stage in the project lifecycle, Sector, and State (location of Project). The three project stages are Development stage, Procurement Stage, and Implementation stage. The portal based on the framework clearly shows the various elements for disclosure depending on the stage the project is in. These elements are; basic project information, project milestones, procurement documents, parties, contract information, performance information and gallery

The method of Disclosure is:(i) www:icrc.gov.ng - The Commission's website (ii) www: Public entity's website for disclosure of performance (iii) Hard copy: made available on request at the Commission's office (iv) www.ppp.icrc.gov.ng - The PPP Disclosure Web Portal (v) Limitations: The Commission and MDAs are to ensure confidential information is redacted.

Source: http://www.icrc.gov.ng/assets/uploads/2017/11/Improving-transparency-and-accountability-in-PPPs.-Nov-2017.pdf accessed on 11 August 2018

5.2.2. Financing vehicles and instruments

There is a need for sound regulatory and policy framework to support pooled investment vehicles and securities to enhance financing for long term investment in a sustainable, transparent and well-structured manner. In markets with limited participation by institutional investors, governments, national development banks and multilateral development agencies should consider the need for establishing and promoting pooled vehicles for long-term investment and supporting other instruments for long-term investment such as government infrastructure bond, co-investment platforms assets and risk mitigation policies.²⁰² In subsection 5.2.2.1 we discuss in detail how to implement the government infrastructure bonds, co-investment platforms in subsection 5.2.2.2 and section 5.2.3 will discuss risk mitigation tools such as guarantees and guarantee funds.

5.2.2.1. Government Infrastructure bonds

We recommend the issuance of government infrastructure bonds with a component of diaspora bond embedded therein. Infrastructure bonds are borrowings to be invested in governmentfunded infrastructure projects within a country; and are issued by governments or government authorized infrastructure companies or Non- Banking Financial Companies.²⁰³ They are usually subject to concession contracts with the public sector (PPP), financing is through Project Finance and usually involve the issuance of federal guarantees.²⁰⁴

Project bonds are standardized securities that finance individual stand-alone infrastructure projects and can be issued in public markets or as private placements.²⁰⁵ Existing literature advises that project bonds are more viable for brownfield projects with long term debt. In this regard project bonds can be used to finance the operational phase of greenfield projects since institutional investors are wary of the high risks involved in the construction phase of infrastructure projects.²⁰⁶ The OECD notes that bonds are a viable option where the project size is big (exceeding USD 100 million), and where the debt is long term.

Project bonds are issued by a project company (SPV), formed as a distinct legal entity, as part of the project finance procurement process, and sold to either banks or other bond investors.²⁰⁷ However, the regulatory framework in Uganda does not support the listing of shares by a newly formed SPV. Rule 36 (1) (8) of the Listing Rules²⁰⁸ provides that;

"For a company or any other body corporate to issue securities other than government bonds on the FISMS,²⁰⁹the issuer shall have published audited financial statements for **three years**...not less than six months before the proposed date of offer; and should have made profits in at least **two of the last three years preceding the issue**, in absence of which the issuer should obtain a guarantee."

These conditions are not favorable for a project bond because the SPV is formed for the standalone project and will neither have been in existence nor made profits before the project. Nevertheless, some characteristics of a project bond can be incorporated in a Government bond to make it a Government Infrastructure Bond. Government bonds, sometimes referred to as

²⁰⁴ <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTCAPITALMARKETS/Resources/HeinzRudolph.pdf</u> accessed 21 August 2018

205OECD 2015 (n 33) 24

²⁰⁷OECD 2015 (n 33) 25

²⁰³ <u>https://www.kotaksecurities.com/ksweb/Our-Offerings/Value-Added-Features/tax-saving-infrastructure-bonds</u> accessed 21 August 2018

²⁰⁶Interaction with NSSF, the leading pension fund in Uganda, revealed that the fund has an appetite for investing in brownfield projects.

²⁰⁸Uganda Securities Exchange, Listing Rules 2003

²⁰⁹The Fixed Income Securities Segment

general obligations are usually not regarded as infrastructure finance especially when backed by the tax authority. However, government **"revenue bonds"** are project bonds whose payments are directly linked to an infrastructure project and do not contribute to public deficits.²¹⁰ These bonds are sold directly to investors through fixed income markets, generally have long term maturities, and are rated by the major rating agencies.²¹¹

Some of the challenges of infrastructure bond issuance in Uganda are low institutional investor base, outdated project pipeline and lack of investor confidence in Uganda's infrastructure environment. Other constraints to public sector issuance of securities include the heavy reliance on concessional loans, financial management and reporting challenges in public sector agencies and local governments.²¹² Additionally, in addressing long-term financing, policymakers tend to focus on creating local stock exchanges rather than on deepening and broadening local markets to finance capital investment more generally.²¹³ Instead of exploring alternative funding channels like infrastructure bonds and private placements which may sometimes be less costly and appropriate, the options are limited to stock exchange. Therefore, there is need for innovation and expansion of the local capital markets to cater for other funding mechanisms. Successful bond issuance and project performance would boost investor confidence as the government works on transforming its regulatory and policy framework in the meantime.

For a country like Uganda whose credit rating is below investment grade, there is a need for credit enhancement of the bonds to attract private investors. Insurance companies can be brought on board to insure the issuer against repayment risks (timely payment of interest and/or principal amount) that way investors are guaranteed that no matter the performance of the project, they will earn their money back. Other credit enhancement vehicles include Multi-lateral Development Banks (MDBs) which can offer first loss or pari passu guarantees, limited recourse, political risk guarantees, issue mezzanine debt²¹⁴or act as a lead originator and investor in senior issues.

Guarantee vehicles are another source of credit enhancement. The private placement bond for an InfraCo infrastructure project in Uganda recently received a rating of A+ from an international

²¹⁰OECD 2015 (n 33) 20

²¹¹Ibid

²¹² https://cmauganda.co.ug/files/downloads/Capital%20Markets%20Developemnt%20Master%20Plan.pdf accessed 21 August 2018

²¹³ https://cmauganda.co.ug/files/downloads/Capital%20Markets%20Developemnt%20Master%20Plan.pdf accessed 21 August 2018

Stock market exchange is essentially the raising of capital through public offers of securities.

²¹⁴Yescombe, *Principles of Project Finance* at page 75 defines mezzanine debt as debt whose repayment ranks after repayment to bank lenders or senior bondholders but before payment of profits to investors. Mezzanine debt is useful in projects where issuance of higher quality debt is limited or where equity holders attempt to limit dilution.

rating agency, which is above the sovereign ceiling, because of credit enhancement from GuarantCo (established under Private Infrastructure Development Group) and USAID.²¹⁵

Government infrastructure bonds are usually successful in a stable macro-economy with favorable local interest rates and a capital market with an established investor base and transparent bond market institutions.²¹⁶ Governments and contracting authorities or issuers need to aim for stability in interest rates and inflation since high inflation inevitably leads to high interest rates which act as a significant deterrent for investors to buy long-dated assets.²¹⁷ Uganda is making progress in this direction with the latest figures from Uganda's central bank indicating that the Central Bank Rate (CBR) has fallen by 500 basis points from 15% in July 2016 to 10% in July 2017.²¹⁸ The Central Bank has also reigned in on inflation to its medium term target of 5% by cautiously easing its monetary policy.

The government has the option of issuing project-specific bonds or general infrastructure bonds for projects in particular sectors as was the case with Kenya. Since Uganda's diaspora market is not yet well developed, it can issue the infrastructure bond with the flexibility to accommodate both local and diaspora investors. Recent studies found that it might not be feasible to issue diaspora bonds in the short term given the lack of critical mass of solvent diaspora members because members of the Ugandan Diaspora community are not registered and cannot easily be reached.²¹⁹ Therefore an infrastructure bond with a component for diaspora investors will help create awareness with the Ugandan nationals in the diaspora and pave the way for bigger project bond issues in the future. In this case, the author draws inspiration from the Kenya Infrastructure Bond issue.

However, the government should take care and ensure that the National Treasury and the Central Bank are on the same page regarding regulatory and policy considerations otherwise there will be confusion and miscommunication on the market. An example is with Kenya where its debt

https://www.africanbondmarkets.org/en/publications/publication/structured-finance-conditions-forinfrastructure-project-bonds-in-african-markets-5185/ accessed 6 August 2018. ²¹⁶Ibid 79

²¹⁵Cedric Achille, Mbeng Mezui and Bim Hundal, 'Structured Finance: Conditions for Infrastructure Project Bonds in African Markets' (*African Financial Markets Initiative*, 2013), 57

²¹⁷Ibid 113

[&]quot;Governments need to take steps to ensure liquidity and transparency in their own debt; for example- they can focus issuance around building liquid tranches at key maturities beyond 15 years. At the same time, Governments must be careful not to crowd out the private-sector or compromise fiscal sustainability."

²¹⁸Isaac Sekitoleko, 'Leveraging Regional Capital Markets to Finance Uganda's Infrastructure Projects' (2018), 4 <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3182243</u> accessed 8 August 2018

²¹⁹Joseph Mawejje and Ezra Munyambonera, *Financing Infrastructure Development in Uganda* (Economic Policy Research Centre 2017), 19

http://www.eprcug.org accessed 6 August 2018. Furthermore, the Central Bank has yet to establish the financial instruments for investing in diaspora bonds.

structuring was broken by involving the National Treasury only towards the end of the process. This created a disconnect within the market in that while infrastructure bonds were trading on the secondary market at around 11 percent, authorities set the coupon at 12 percent.²²⁰ The effect of this contradiction is that it sends a signal to the market that the issuer is in desperate need of money and is willing to pay very generously for it; ultimately this increases financing costs of the project. The National Treasury especially the debt department needs to be fully constituted with enough qualified technocrats to be able to plan and structure the debt before issue.

Box 5.2. Infrastructure Bond with Kenyan Diaspora Component

The budget for Financial Year (FY) 2011/12 specified that the Government would raise Kes 119.5bn through domestic borrowing out of which Kes 35.85bn was raised through the issuance of Infrastructure Bonds to fund specific new and ongoing projects. The sectors of the economy highlighted in the Budget were; Roads: Kes. 7.36bn, Energy: Kes.18.78bn and Water: Kes.9.71bn.

The Republic of Kenya ("the Issuer") offered a Kes 20bn in an Infrastructure Bond Issue ("the Issue"), as a first tranche to the total borrowing of the Kes. 35.85bn due in 2023 according to the provisions of the Internal Loans Act Cap 420 and also the Capital Markets Act Cap 485A. The Bond was made open to all investors but placed particular emphasis on getting participation from Kenyan citizens in the Diaspora who could participate as individuals or through their incorporated companies and other institutions with 100% Kenyan shareholding.

This Bond issue was denominated in Kenya Shillings ("Kes"). The offer price, aggregate principal amount, maturity and interest payable in respect of the Bond, were determined by the Issuer and the Agent, at the time of issue, following the prevailing market conditions and as set out in the Financial Year 2011/12 Infrastructure Bond Prospectus.

To incentivize investors, bonds issued benefited from withholding tax exemption on interest income. Further, to ease redemption pressure on the Issuer associated with bullet maturities and avail an early exit window to investors; redemption of the principal outstanding amount was on an amortization basis at the end of the fourth, eighth and a final redemption at the end of the twelfth year, in proportions specified in the Prospectus. The bonds were tradable on the Nairobi Stock Exchange ("NSE") after obtaining approval for listing by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) of Kenya. There was a possibility of rediscounting the bonds by the Central Bank of Kenya as a last resort at 3% above the prevailing market yield or coupon whichever was higher, upon written confirmation to do so from NSE.

The interest payment was semi-annual, based on the original principal amount (or in case of amortization, on outstanding principal amounts, and NOT the original principal amount).

Source: Infrastructure Bond with Kenyan Diaspora Component: General Information Supplement https://www.nse.co.ke/media-center/press-release.html?download=920%3Ageneral-information-supplement&start=300

²²⁰ https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/business/article/2001268684/this-is-what-an-overpriced-t-bond-costsgovernment accessed on 6 August 2018

The success strategies employed by Kenya were: aggressive marketing by the Central Bank and Ministry of Finance; identification of projects in the prospectus to provide transparency like the Nairobi-Thika Highway; reopening, underwriting and syndicated reopening were all strategies to ensure full subscription; timing of issue at a period of relative inactivity in the equities markets and there was a flight to safety at a time of global financial strife; lowering of the threshold for Treasury Bond bids enabled retail participation; redemption strategy to crowd-in as many investors as possible.²²¹

Uganda can use these strategies now at a time where projects are soon to be published in a PPP project pipeline, the equities market is inactive, the Central Bank has reduced its lending rates and approved the direct access of all licensed commercial banks to the primary market for Government security operations²²² thereby widening the investor base. In the past, the Central Bank had restricted the government securities primary market to six Primary Dealers (PDs) who were licensed to participate and later sell the securities to other banks and investors in the secondary market.²²³ This move will widen the investor base since banks will now be able to participate, link small and big investors to open accounts and begin investing.

The proceeds of the bond issuance can then be used to finance only specific PPP projects in the transportation and energy sectors among others. This would require the different sectoral line ministries and departments to prepare PPP projects beforehand and submit to the Ministry of Finance under which the National Planning Authority and PPP Unit derive their mandate.

5.2.2.2. Co-investment platforms

In order to bypass the large fees associated with investing through unlisted equity funds, pension funds have looked at pooling their financial and internal resources to invest jointly in infrastructure projects; or partnering with other funds with more expertise on a deal-by-deal basis.²²⁴ This could be the case in Uganda where the pension schemes are limited and the government is reluctant to liberalize private sector pensions for fear of competition from foreign firms.

Uganda has only four existing pension schemes so far to wit; National Social Security Fund (NSSF Act), Occupational Pensions Scheme (Uganda Insurance Act), Public Service Pensions Scheme (Pensions Act) and Armed Forces Pension Scheme (Armed Forces Pensions Act)²²⁵ with NSSF

²²¹Cedric Achille et al. (n 215) 159

²²²https://www.bou.or.ug/bou/media/statements/Investing-in-Government-Securities.html accessed 8 August 2018
²²³https://allafrica.com/stories/201704060315.html accessed 8 August 2018

²²⁴OECD 2015 (n 33) 37

²²⁵http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPENSIONS/Resources/395443-1279057176326/Uganda.pdf accessed 8 August 2018
being the largest with UGX 6,586 trillion in Assets under Management by 2016.²²⁶ These pension funds can be used to substitute the high cost of external borrowing to finance infrastructure investments.

Pooling finances together would help raise more funds and by pass the regulatory restriction on investments placed upon pension funds. Section 68 of the Retirement Benefits Act²²⁷ provides that funds of a retirement benefits scheme shall not be lent to any person except through securities sold on the open market and shall not be invested outside of East Africa. Further, the Investments of Scheme Funds Regulations²²⁸ sets the assets and percentage of investment by pension funds in the East African market at eighty percent. However, this is not practical since these pension funds have diversified investment portfolios and cannot limit their investments to only infrastructure projects which expose them to high risk.

On the contrary, if the pension funds in East Africa combined resources for investment in infrastructure, the funds collected would greatly contribute to regional infrastructure development considering that there is already the East African Standard Gauge Railway that has hit a snag for lack of funds. Combined, Uganda, Kenya, Rwanda, and Tanzania have USD 14.25 billion of Assets under Management.²²⁹ These funds are sufficient to fund a huge portion of Uganda's infrastructure projects under the second National Development Plan.

Rather than invest separately, pooled investment would expose the pension funds to better alignment of interests with each other, like-minded investment horizon, lower fees, better control of the characteristics of the investment, larger commitments, local knowledge, wider risk spread, network effects and expertise, higher returns, better access to deal flow and diversification.²³⁰

The potential challenge for this collaboration is that the pension funds may have different priorities, regulatory restrictions and investment strategies which may be hard to realign but the governments can help create a supportive environment for collaboration. Authorities can modify the Global Strategic Investment Alliance Strategy to suit the East African infrastructure needs and investment environment.

²²⁶Isaac Sekitoleko (n 218) 8

²²⁷The Uganda Retirement Benefits Regulatory Authority Act, 2011

 ²²⁸The Uganda Retirement Benefits Authority (Investments of Scheme Funds) Regulations, Statutory Instrument No.44 of 2014, Section 9 & Schedule 2
²²⁹Isaac Sekitoleko (n 218) 9

²³⁰OECD 2015 (n 33) 37

While streamlining regional regulatory framework to support the co-investment platform, the Government of Uganda could apply the same idea to the four domestic retirement benefit schemes under a collective investment scheme. A Collective Investment Scheme (CIS) is defined as

"An arrangement with respect to property of any description, the purpose of which is to enable persons taking part in the arrangement, whether by becoming owners of the property or any part of it or otherwise, to participate in or receive profits or income arising from the acquisition, holding, management or disposal of the property or sums paid out of such profits or income."²³¹

However, the CIS industry is not vibrant in Uganda and there are three major bottlenecks that have affected its development; i) a poor culture of savings and investments²³², ii) a lack of an extensive and comprehensive marketing strategy and distribution network for CIS products iii) an underdeveloped capital market with a few investment opportunities for the CIS industry.²³³ These issues should be addressed before implementing the co-investment platform otherwise it risks failure at inception.

Box 5.3. Co-investment platform by OMERS

The Global Strategic Investment Alliance (GSIA) is a global co-investment alliance platform launched in 2012 by the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS). The GSIA was designed to gather sophisticated likeminded investors (mainly pension funds) to directly invest in infrastructure assets. Through the GSIA, participating alliance members will invest in core infrastructure assets with an enterprise value of more than USD 2 billion in sectors such as airports, railways, ports, power generation & distribution, and gas pipelines mainly in North America and Europe.

The GSIA aims to raise USD 20 billion with OMERS providing USD 5 billion. In April 2012 Mitsubishi Corporation (MC) entered into binding commitments to jointly invest up to USD 2.5 billion in quality infrastructure assets, together with leading Japanese pension funds and financial institutions, namely Pension Fund Association, Japan Bank for International Cooperation, and Mizuho Corporate Bank. In March 2014 OMERS entered into a co-investment agreement with Japan's Government Pension Investment Fund (GPIF), the world's largest pension fund, and the Development Bank of Japan (DBJ). The participation by GPIF and DBJ brings the total capital committed to the GSIA to USD 11.25 billion.

Source: Infrastructure Financing Instruments and Incentives (OECD 2015), 37 or http://www.oecd.org/daf/fin/private-pensions/OECD-Pooling-Institutional-Investors-Capital-Unlisted-Equity-Infrastructure.pdf

²³¹The Collective Investment Schemes Act (Uganda), 2003, Section 3

 ²³²The informal sector covers more than 50% percent Ugandan economy, with majority of the population not registered under a formally recognized savings scheme. This source of income therefore remains untapped.
²³³<u>https://cmauganda.co.ug/files/downloads/THE%20DEVELOPMENT%20OF%20COLLECTIVE%20INVES</u> <u>TMENT%20SCHEMES%20IN%20UGANDA.pdf</u> accessed 21 August 2018

5.2.3. Risk mitigation

Risk mitigation instruments are financial instruments that transfer certain defined risks from project financier (lenders and equity investors) to creditworthy third parties (guarantors and insurers) that have a better capacity to accept such risks.²³⁴ These instruments are useful for Uganda since it is not sufficiently creditworthy as a country; ranked B₂-below investment grade. The magnitude of a risk varies depending on the country (and its underlying investment climate), sector (and its institutional maturity) and project (and its complexity).²³⁵ The objectives of risk mitigants and incentives are to correct certain market failures or inefficiencies in the procurement of infrastructure investment and delivery of infrastructure assets by private entities, or in the financing of infrastructure investment.²³⁶ Below is the summary of risks involved in infrastructure investments.

Risk Categories	Development Phase	Construction Phase	Operation Phase	Termination Phase			
	Environmental review	Cancellation of permits	Change in tariff	Contract duration			
Political and regulatory	Rise in pre- construction costs	Contract renegotiation	regulation	Decommission Asset transfer			
	(longer permitting process)	eenneder renege aanon	Currency cor	nvertibility			
		Change in t	axation				
		Social acce	ptance				
	Change in regulatory or legal environment						
	Prefunding	D					
			Refinancing risk				
Macrosconomic	Financing	availability	Liquidity				
and business			Volatility of demand/market risk				
	Inflation						
	Real interest rates						
		Exchange rate	fluctuation				
	Governa						
		-					
Technical	Project feasibility	Construction delays and cost overruns	Qualitative deficit of the physical	different from expected			
	Archaeological		structure/ service				
	Т	echnology and obsolescent	ce				
	Force majeure						

Table 5.1. Classification of Risk Linked to Infrastructure Assets

Note: (See Annex for full description of the risks in Table 2)

Source: OECD Risk Mitigation and Incentives

²³⁴ http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTTRANSPORT/Resources/336291-1227561426235/5611053-1229359963828/TP-32-Road Asset Mgmt.pdf accessed 23 August 2018

[&]quot;Risk is defined as the measurable probability that the actual outcome will deviate from the expected or most likely outcome."

To engage investors, the government should consider risk mitigation instruments and incentives specifically focused on the investors such as guarantees, coverage of political and regulatory risks, credit enhancements, and more diversified insurance offerings, while ensuring their efficacy as well as taking due account of the impact on public finances.²³⁷ For routine transport and energy infrastructure, the construction risk is limited, but demand and regulatory risks may not be.²³⁸ Toll revenues in developing countries are not well accepted by users, which reinforces the risk of hold-up and expropriation by the Government.²³⁹

Therefore, in countries with a nascent regulatory framework and a regulatory agency without a track record such as the case in Uganda, the government can provide regulatory certainty through clear contractual terms and/or risk mitigating structures so as to attract investors. When these regulations are defined in a contract, the regulatory risk may be mitigated using a Partial Risk Guarantee (PRG) to cover the government's contractual obligations, or by breach of contract policy under Political Risk Insurance (PRI).²⁴⁰ PRGs cover commercial lenders in private projects²⁴¹ whereas PRI can insure equity investors or lenders.²⁴² One of the ways to ensure that there is sufficient money for guarantees is through a guarantee fund as will be further discussed below.

Guarantees and guarantee funds

The World Bank defines guarantee funds to mean a mechanism which involves the creation of a fund of liquid assets that can be rapidly mobilized in the event that a contingent liability is realized. The fund would have its own balance sheet, be removed from the annual budget cycle, and benefit from independent governance.²⁴³

²³⁷G20/OECD, Guidance Note on Diversification of Financial Instruments for Infrastructure and SMEs (OECD 2016), 7 http://www.oecd.org/g20/topics/financing-for-investment/G20-OECD-Guidance-Note-Diversification-Financial-Instruments.pdf accessed 27 July 2018

²³⁸Rabah Arezki et al. (n 62) 19

²³⁹Ibid

[&]quot;In addition, toll revenues are subject to currency risk and the lack of long term currency hedging mechanisms is a major concern for investors. Guarantees are rarely available and therefore seldom sought by investors (non-recourse debt remains the norm)."

²⁴⁰Matsukawa Tomoko et al. (n 122) 6

²⁴¹Ibid 4

PRGs also called Political Risk Guarantees cover the full repayment, as well as accrued interest (when the guarantee is callable upon the acceleration of the underlying debt) or full interest payments (when the guarantee is non-accelerable).

²⁴²PRI or investment insurance can cover the default by a sovereign corporate entity but only if the reason for a loss is due to political risks. Coverage is generally limited to less than 100% of the investment or loan and includes currency inconvertibility and transfer restriction, expropriation and war and civil disturbance.

²⁴³ <u>https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/financing/government-risk-management#fund</u> accessed 30 July 2018

According to the World Bank, the fund could be used to: ring fence budget allocations intended for government support of PPP projects; reduce the likelihood of diversion of such funds for inefficient use; limit liabilities for government support provided to PPP projects to the value of its capitalization of the fund; reassure the public that government liabilities in the face of PPP projects are less likely to have catastrophic consequences; improving the credit enhancement function of government support; and help the government in their risk management of contingent liabilities (increasing efficiency and targeting of guarantees and ring-fencing government contingent liabilities).

The Bank further proposes that the guarantee fund be established as a separate legal entity from the government with its own capital and limited liability so as to promote independent decision making and transparency and to avoid conflict of interest. This has successfully been implemented in Indonesia, Brazil, Peru and Colombia among others.

In order for the fund to be efficient, its staff must have the relevant skills and expertise to evaluate proposed projects, identify, allocate and monitor the implementation of balanced government support especially during the period between project selection and financial close. To ensure that the due diligence yields correct results, there is the need for information sharing between the contracting agencies, government and the guarantee fund.

The possible challenges faced by the guarantee fund would be in relation to cost and conflict of interest. Regarding conflict of interest, one may ask, how will the fund which is also an arm of government, be able to monitor and implement its mandate independently? How will the fund ensure transparency without the influence of or interference from the central government or the other government agencies? Copying from Indonesian innovation (see Box 5.4), the guarantee fund will be registered as a company with separate legal status and regulated by the requirements of company law. This means that any transaction with the government or government contracting authorities will be contractual, explicitly laying down parties' rights, obligations and liabilities.

Being subject to company law means the fund will be required to fulfill its obligations under the Companies Act which include filing annual returns, the company's composition and mandate through Articles and Memorandum of Association among others. This information is available to the public and investors through the records in the Uganda Registration Services Bureau. This exposure will act as a control mechanism on the fund's activities.

Another challenge is the costs, especially the initial capital and transaction costs. The Bank fears that assets or cash reserved in such a fund are not available for other purposes and must be managed in a very conservative manner in order to retain the value of the fund.²⁴⁴

Being a company, shareholders must be able to invest in equity and this will be the initial capital. Government should be a shareholder so as to have access to information on the activities of the fund. Other shareholders can be members of the private sector who will bring funding, expertise and network effects to the fund. Members of the civil society may be involved too as shareholders, that way they have access to information to disseminate to the public and rally public support for infrastructure projects and act as a watchdog of the fund.

Secondly, the fund can raise money by charging the contacting authority guarantee fees which include upfront charges and periodic payments; usually a percentage of the amount of guarantee needed. Charging fees can help discourage unnecessary applications and sieve out the projects in actual need of guarantee. Care should be taken not to set the guarantee fees too low as this will encourage indiscriminate applications or even white elephants, nor too high as this will discourage implementation of genuine projects.

Alternatively, governments can also obtain contingent, stand-by facilities (for example from trusted lenders with good credit ratings to provide confidence to the market and those potential purchasers of such guarantees) to offset some of the need to set aside assets.²⁴⁵ For instance, the fund could solicit support from GuarantCo which entered a contingent debt facility with FMO to manage liquidity risk.²⁴⁶ These facilities, if well structured, would inspire confidence among the recipients of guarantees that sufficient money will be available without delay to address any liabilities the fund may incur, in particular for calls on guarantees, off-setting some of the capital requirements of the fund.²⁴⁷

To ensure sustainability and ability to meet operational costs, the relationship between the fund and contracting agency should be contractual, with rights, obligations and liabilities well defined in the guarantee agreement. There should be a provision which requires the contracting agency to indemnify the fund in case there is a call on the guarantee. The advantage of this is that beneficiary

²⁴⁴<u>http://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/financing/government-risk-management</u> "The government incurs this cost even if the assets or funds are not in fact needed to compensate fund liabilities. Where the PPP programme in question is large or high value, the amount of assets that would need to be set aside in the fund may be prohibitive."

²⁴⁵<u>https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/financing/government-risk-management</u> accessed 30 July 2018

²⁴⁶ 'Infrastructure Transforming Economies Changing Lives-PIDG Annual Report' (Pidg.org, 2016), 18 <u>http://www.pidg.org/resource-library/annual-reports/pidg-annual-report-2016.pdf</u> accessed 21 August 2018

²⁴⁷ <u>https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/financing/government-risk-management#fund</u> accessed 30 July 2018

agencies will be encouraged to meet their obligations in the PPP project and discourage unnecessary breach of contract.

Box 5.4. Case study of Indonesia Infrastructure Guarantee Fund

In 2009, the Guarantee Fund was formally established as a State-Owned Enterprise called Indonesia Infrastructure Guarantee Fund (IIGF) with dual mandate as a separate entity providing a financial guarantee to private investors and as a fiscal risk manager. As a guarantor, the IIGF guarantees the financial obligations of government contracting authorities in PPP contracts with private investors. In case of default, the IIGF, as guarantor, will pay a certain amount of compensation to the private counterparty.

In its role as the **risk manager**, IIGF operates as the only gate through which guarantee proposals from contracting agencies can be assessed and structured. It is also the site where claims from the investor to IIGF and/or the government are directed and processed. This means that the guarantee proposals are directed to and evaluated by IIGF and not the government. Upon assessment, IIGF will either issue a guarantee itself or if its capital is insufficient, request the government to guarantee certain risks it cannot cover.

IIGF issues financial guarantees in the form of a negotiated contract signed by both IIGF and the investor and also the government if it guarantees the project with IIGF.

The relationship between guarantee fund and the government contracting agencies is contractual under a recourse mechanism. That is, IIGF by law can claim back a compensation payment already paid to the private investor from the government-contracting agency, which is defaulted under a PPP contract.

Source: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.689.1901&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> accessed 11 August 2018

The guarantee fund could work to reduce risk perceptions, increase the security of investment and further enhance the effectiveness of the project. Multilateral and bilateral agencies can support the fund by providing contingent credit or seed capital to the government. Such official donor financial support may be structured on a first loss basis for the private financial institution managing the guarantee program and to leverage donor support by using its own balance sheet on a second loss basis.²⁴⁸

Summary

We established that the major barriers to PPI in Uganda were among others lack of transparency in procurement and bidding processes, limited options of financing instruments and lack of government guarantees. We noted that although problems with the land acquisition were a major barrier, there is a Commission of Inquiry that was constituted in 206 to deal with land regulatory and management deficiencies.

To deal with transparency issues, we recommended that government develop a platform to publish results of both project cost-benefit analysis and feasibility studies. We advised that authorities concerned use the Nigerian disclosure and transparency model as a template since it has greatly contributed private sector participation in PPP projects.

In order to increase the options of financing instruments, we advised government to issue out the government infrastructure bonds with a component of diaspora bond embedded therein. This would go a long way in increasing the investor base while creating awareness among the diaspora community about infrastructure as an asset class. Co-investment platforms were found to be a solution to the restrictive regulatory policy on pension funds and the limited number of pension schemes in Uganda. Co-investment schemes would increase the resource base and ultimately the funds invested in infrastructure projects; since they encourage pooling of resources among domestic and regional pension funds.

PPPs are long term and risky in nature and so investors are reluctant to allocate resources to such projects. To boost investor confidence, we advised the government to establish a guarantee fund where finances would be easily mobilized in the event of a contingent liability arising. This way, investors are confident that irrespective of hiccups in the project, return on investment is guaranteed. We believe that these recommendations would go a long way in improving the PPP investment environment in Uganda.

CHAPTER SIX. CONCLUSION

Scholars have emphasized the need for infrastructure development because it directly translates to economic growth. Infrastructure includes roads, railways, ports, power plants, telecommunication, water and sewage among others. Further studies estimated that the world needed infrastructure investment worth USD 6.3 trillion per year over the period 2016-2030 to spur economic growth and development. In Sub-Saharan Africa, the infrastructure gap was estimated at USD 100 billion, and of this amount, Uganda needs USD 1.4 billion per year in the medium-term. The infrastructure financing gap is at USD 0.4 million per annum with overall investments growing at the average annual rate of only 4.3 percent within the five-year period up to FY 2015/16.

We established that since low income and fiscal deficits constrained most governments, they needed support from the private sector. Additionally, we found that weak institutional design, lack of accountability and conflict of interest limit public sector efficiency. These issues often lead to project delays, cost overruns, low quality of infrastructure projects and ultimately wastage of already limited government resources However, we discovered that the private sector, especially institutional investors, were unwilling to include infrastructure projects in their portfolio allocations because of the high risks involved. Appreciating the growing infrastructure gap, and the fact that the infrastructure procurement model was shifting slowly from heavy reliance on the public sector towards significant private sector involvement, scholars advised that host countries needed to explore innovative financing mechanisms to attract investment. Private sector involvement ensures efficiency, expertise and attracts funding all of which are necessary for timely project delivery. Because of the increasing popularity Public-Private Partnerships, scholars advised that it would be an alternative mechanism to stimulate private investment. PPPs are projects in which the private sector Project Company finances, operates and maintains public infrastructure while receiving payment for its use; and the asset concerned usually reverts to public sector control/possession at the end of the contract²⁴⁹ (15-30 years).

Based on the circumstances, we asked the question, "How can the Government of Uganda enhance private investment in infrastructure through Public-Private Partnerships?" To answer this question, first, we sought to analyze circumstances under which PPPs would be used to finance infrastructure projects up to completion successfully. While addressing the preconditions for a successful PPP regime, we also discussed whether the elements of a typical PPP structure were in tandem with the long-term investment profile which institutional investors were interested in. Because of their long-term nature and high yield return on investment, PPPs

²⁴⁹E. R Yescombe, Principles of Project Finance (2nd edn, Academic Press 2014), 14

are an appropriate investment option for institutional investors whose allocation portfolio is inclined towards long-term high yield investments. We also noted that the preconditions for investment set by institutional investors were in tandem with those necessary for the success of a PPP regime. These were; clear and specific contractual terms, good governance and operational maturity, proper legal and regulatory frameworks, stable investment climate, sound financial facilities and appropriate risk analysis and allocation among parties best suited to handle the risks. Regarding PPP contracting, we argued that incomplete contracts were preferable given the longterm nature and complexity of PPP projects; giving the public sector room to renegotiate terms to cover unforeseeable circumstances.

Once the host country meets all the preconditions of a successful PPP, the public sector and community enjoy benefits like quality assurance, accountability and value for money. Despite the advantages of PPPs, we noted that PPPs are not a solution for all infrastructural challenges. We advised that PPPs may not be used where the contracting authority could not specify the requirements of the project, where there was lack of third party finance, where there was rapid technological change in the sector thereby creating uncertainty and where it was difficult to substitute suppliers. Otherwise, the project would fail due to lack of funding, contract renegotiations to cover the ever-changing circumstances surrounding the project.

Despite the possibility of high yield investment returns, private investment in infrastructure in Uganda was found to be low. We sought to find out directly from investors and practitioners, through a survey, what challenges they faced in Uganda. We discovered that most projects in the current PPP pipeline had not yet been implemented and still lacked sponsors to date. Further, that the project pipeline was based on an outdated National Development Plan (NDP) drafted in 2012 and that there had since been a second NDP, but there was no project pipeline reflecting the priority infrastructure projects of the public sector.

While analyzing the PPP environment in Uganda, we took examples from the transport sector. We found that Uganda did not satisfy the preconditions of a successful PPP regime and we attributed this to the lack of institutional capacity in the transport and public sector which was reflected in the failure to design bankable projects and under execution of budgets within the transport sector.

We also found that the PPP Unit was not fully constituted according to the PPP Act and therefore was unable to carry out its functions as required. The legal and regulatory framework was found to be weak with the PPP Act lacking specific provisions on contract management and alternative dispute resolution mechanisms. Failure to publish feasibility studies and other relevant information was found to create information asymmetry and concern among the public sector, private investors, and donors. Uganda is still perceived to be politically unstable due to strikes, lack of a succession plan and investors fear that conflicts affecting the neighboring countries may spill over. Since Uganda is ranked below investment grade, we found that there is a need for robust financial facilities, but the nation lacks diversified funding structures and instruments to cater for investors' needs.

Analysis and interpretation of the survey results revealed that the significant barriers to private investment at project level were lack of transparency in procurement and bidding processes, problems with land acquisition and lack of coordination between departments in the public sector. Regarding infrastructure financing, the significant challenges were limited alternatives for financing instruments, unattractive expected returns on investment and lack of government guarantee. However, despite the results, respondents expressed optimism about increased private investment in infrastructure projects.

Based on the feedback from the survey, we suggested some measures for the public sector to consider while addressing the barriers to PPI. To deal with transparency issues, we recommended that government develop a platform to publish results of both project cost-benefit analysis and feasibility studies. We advised that authorities concerned use the Nigerian disclosure and transparency model as a template since it has contributed significantly to private sector participation in PPP projects in Nigeria.

To increase the options of financing instruments, we advised the government to issue out government infrastructure bonds with a component of diaspora bond embedded therein. This would widen the investor base while creating awareness among the diaspora community about infrastructure as an asset class. Co-investment platforms were found to be a solution to the restrictive regulatory policy on pension funds and the limited number of pension schemes in Uganda. Co-investment schemes would increase the resource base and ultimately the funds invested in infrastructure projects; since they encourage pooling of resources among domestic and regional pension funds.

To boost investor confidence in PPP projects which involve high risks, we advised the government to establish a guarantee fund which would make mobilization of finances easy, in the event of a contingent liability arising. A guarantee fund would be a reassurance to investors that irrespective of setbacks in the project, return on investment would be certain. We believe that these recommendations would greatly improve the PPP investment environment in Uganda, thereby attracting private investment to infrastructure.

APPENDIX I.

Start of Block: INTRODUCTION

Dear Prospective Survey Participant,

My name is Elizabeth Elong, a student at Tilburg University, pursuing an LLM in International Business Law. I am conducting a survey as part of my research project which aims to improve our understanding of Private Participation in Infrastructure projects in Uganda. This survey should take approximately 10 minutes. This research is conducted to study the **determining factors and investment barriers to private sector participation in infrastructure projects in Uganda.** All data obtained from participants will be kept anonymous. We will not share your responses with anyone, nor will individual firms or respondents be identified. Only aggregate data will be made public. Moreover, we will not link the survey responses to any other data. If you have any questions regarding this survey, you may contact Elizabeth Elong or the supervisor Prof. Joe McCahery.

Thank you very much for participating in this survey.

I have read the statements above and I agree to participate in this survey.

Yes (1)

End of Block: INTRODUCTION

Start of Block: SECTION A -Respondent Information

Q1. The institution where I work can be best described as:

O Bank (1)
O Insurance Company (2)
O Government (please specify) (3)
O University (4)
O Pension Fund (5)
C Law firm (6)
• Financial services firm (7)
O Private equity firm (8)
O Mutual Fund Management Company (9)
O Other (please specify) (10)

Q2. How do you rate your knowledge of Infrastructure Development - in particular with regard to private sector participation in Infrastructure Projects in Uganda?

 \bigcirc Extensive knowledge (1)

 \bigcirc Reasonable knowledge (2)

 \bigcirc Limited knowledge (3)

 \bigcirc No knowledge at all (4)

Skip To: End of Survey If How do you rate your knowledge of Infrastructure Development - in particular with regard to priva... = No knowledge at all

End of Block: SECTION A –Respondent Information

Start of Block: SECTION B - General Preference in Infrastructure Investment

Q3. How optimistic are you about private sector investment in infrastructure projects?

 \bigcirc Strongly optimistic (1)

 \bigcirc Somewhat optimistic (2)

 \bigcirc Neutral (3)

 \bigcirc Pessimistic (4)

 \bigcirc Strongly pessimistic (5)

Q4. What type of infrastructure assets are most attractive to investors?

A green field project is one where a completely new project is constructed while a brownfield project is one in which an existing project is renovated or rehabilitated.

 \bigcirc Greenfield project (1)

 \bigcirc Brownfield project (2)

Q5. In your opinion, which projects are more effective in securing private sector investment in infrastructure?

Smaller projects are those that have their focus on local challenges and/or are tied to business projects whereas mega projects are those which focus on countrywide and regional investment needs.

 \bigcirc Mega projects (1)

 \bigcirc Smaller projects (2)

End of Block: SECTION B – General Preference in Infrastructure Investment

Start of Block: SECTION C – DETERMINING FACTORS AT COUNTRY LEVEL

In this section, we are interested in your views on the determining factors at *Country Level* that influence the decision of financiers (investors/lenders) to invest in or finance Infrastructure projects in Uganda.

Q6. In your opinion, how important are these factors to the private sector in determining the investment/financing decision for infrastructure projects?

	Extremely	Very important	Moderately	Slightly	Not at all
	important (1)	(2)	important (3)	important (4)	important (5)
a. Track record					
of the central or					
local government					
in honoring its	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
obligation to					
investors/lenders					
(1)					
b. Government					
Policy in					
Investor/Lender	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
protection (2)					
c. Clear legal and					
regulatory					
framework to	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
support private		0	0	0	<u> </u>
investment (3)					
d. Country credit					
rating (4)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
0()					
e. Political					
stability (5)	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
f. Corruption	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
level (6)		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
g. Good					
performance on					
the Ease of	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Doing Business					
Index (7)					
h. Technical					
expertise of					
public sector	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
employees in the		<u> </u>	· ·	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
project (8)					

Q7. Among the determining factors listed in question 6 above, which ones do you think are the **TOP 3 MOST RELEVANT** for Uganda?

End of Block: SECTION C – DETERMINING FACTORS AT COUNTRY LEVEL

Start of Block: SECTION D - ISSUES AT PROJECT LEVEL

In this section, we ask about your views on the determining factors and investment barriers at the *Project level* that influence the decision of financiers (investors/lenders) to invest/finance Infrastructure project in Uganda.

DETERMINING FACTORS

Q8. In your opinion, how important are these factors to the private sector in determining the investment/financing decision for infrastructure projects?

	Extremely important (1)	Very important (2)	Moderately important (3)	Slightly important (4)	Not at all important (5)
a. Project sector (transport, energy, telecommunication) (1)	0	0	0	0	0
b. Geographical location of the project (2)	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
c. Project size in terms of investment needs (3)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
d. Transparency in Project and bidding process (4)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
e. Financing structure and instruments (5)	0	0	0	0	0

Q9. Among the determining factors listed above, which ones do you think are the **TOP 3 MOST RELEVANT** for Uganda?

INVESTMENT BARRIERS

Q10. According to you, the following are the major barriers to private sector participation in infrastructure projects in Uganda.

PROJECT SELECTION

	Strongly agree (1)	Agree (2)	Somewhat agree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat disag r ee (5)	Disagree (6)	Strongly disagree (7)
a. The							
structure of Projects that							
involve							
private							
sector							
participation	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
is more	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
compared to							
traditional							
public							
procurement							
(1)							
b. Unclear							
legal and							
framework							
for	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
infrastructure							
investment							
(2)							
c. The Public							
sector 1s							
private	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
involvement							
(3)							

	Strongly agree (1)	Agree (2)	Somewhat agree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat disagree (5)	Disagree (6)	Strongly disagree (7)
d. Lack of skills and knowledge of private sector to implement infrastructure projects (1)	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0
e. Lack of transparency in procurement and bidding process (2)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
f. Inappropriate risk sharing between public and private partners (3)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0

PROCUREMENT AND BIDDING PROCESS

IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS

	Strongly agree (1)	Agree (2)	Somewhat agree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat disagree (5)	Disagree (6)	Strongly disagree (7)
g. Land acquisition remains a major obstacle in completing projects on time (1)	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0
h. Lack of coordination between departments in the public sector (2)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

Q11. Among the investment barriers provided in question 10, which ones do you think are the **TOP 3 MOST RELEVANT** in Uganda?

End of Block: SECTION D – ISSUES AT PROJECT LEVEL

Start of Block: SECTION E - Issues in Structuring the Financing

In this section, we ask about your views on the barriers and determining factors when selecting Infrastructure Projects in relation with financing structure.

DETERMINING FACTORS

Q12. In your opinion, how important are these factors to the private sector when selecting *Infrastructure Projects to be financed*?

	Extremely	Very important	Moderately	Slightly	Not at all
	important (1)	(2)	important (3)	important (4)	important (5)
a. The availability of Government Guarantee (1)	0	0	0	0	0
b. Expected return on investment (2)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
c. Project Monitoring Mechanism (the flexibility given to financiers to monitor the project) (3)	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
d. Financing instruments (4)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
e. Risk Allocation (5)	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
f. Involvement of Development Financial Institutions (MDBs, bilateral development banks) on the project (6)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
g. Creditworthiness of the sponsor (7)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

INVESTMENT BARRIERS

Q13. According to you, the following are major barriers to private sector participation in Infrastructure projects in Uganda.

	Strongly agree (1)	Agree (2)	Somewhat agree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat disagree (5)	Disagree (6)	Strongly disagree (7)
a. Limited options of financing instruments (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
b.Inflexible investment timing (2)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
c.Unattractive expected returns on investment (3)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
d. Lack of government guarantee (4)	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0
e. Low credit rating of the sponsors (5)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

End of Block: SECTION E – Issues in Structuring the Financing

REFERENCES

- http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTTRANSPORT/Resources/336291-1227561426235/5611053-1229359963828/TP-32-Road_Asset_Mgmt.pdf
- (The Economist Intelligence Unit) E, 'The 2015 Infrascope: Evaluating the Environment for Public Private Partnerships in Africa' (*Eiu.com*, 2015)

https://www.eiu.com/public/topical_report.aspx?campaignid=AfricaInfrascope2015

- Achille C, M Mezui, B Hundal, 'Structured Finance: Conditions for Infrastructure Project Bonds in African Markets' (*African Financial Markets Initiative*, 2013)
- https://www.africanbondmarkets.org/en/publications/publication/structured-financeconditions-for-infrastructure-project-bonds-in-african-markets-5185/
- Action Document for Institutional Capacity Building for the Transport Sector in Uganda (The European Commission 2016)
- https://ec.europa.eu/.../devco/files/decision-aap-uganda-2016 en.pdf
- 'Africa's Pulse; An Analysis of Issues Shaping Africa's Economic Future' (Openknowledge.worldbank.org, 2014) https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/26485
- Anh Nguyen D, Improving Public-Private Partnership Contracts through Risk Characterization, Contract Mechanisms, and Flexibility (2017)
- https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/78275/Nguyen DA D 2017.pdf?seque nce=1
- 'Annual Economic Performance Report | Directorate of Economic Affairs: Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development' (*Finance.go.ug*, 2017)

http://www.finance.go.ug/Economic-Performance-Reports

- Arezki R and others, 'From Global Savings Glut to Financing Infrastructure: The Advent of Investment Platforms' (2016) 16 IMF Working Papers
- Atoyan R and others, 'Public Infrastructure in the Western Balkans; Opportunities and Challenges' (*Econpapers.repec.org*, 2018) <u>https://econpapers.repec.org/RePEc:imf:imfdep:18/02</u>
- 'Attracting Investors to African Public-Private Partnerships: A Project Preparation Guide' (www.worldbank.org, 2009)

https://www.openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/2588

'Benchmarking PPP Procurement 2017 | Public Private Partnership' (Ppp.worldbank.org, 2017)

https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/library/benchmarking-pppprocurement-2017

Benchmarking PPP Procurement 2017 in Uganda (2017) https://www.procurementinet.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Uganda.pdf

'Bi-Annual Inspectorate of Government Performance Report to Parliament' (The Inspectorate of Government, Uganda 2016)

https://www.igg.go.ug/static/files/publications/IGG_Report_2016_July_to_December_Edited .pdf

'Chapter 4: Did Public-Private Partnerships Deliver' (*Ieg.worldbankgroup.org*, 2018) <u>http://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/sites/default/files/Data/reports/chapters/ppp_chap4_0.pdf</u>

'Doing Business 2017: Equal Opportunity for all Uganda' (*Documents.worldbank.org*, 2017) http://www.worldbank.org

Engel E, R FischerA Galetovic, 'Public-Private Partnerships: When and How' (2008)

Farquharson E, C Torres de Mästle, E Yescombe, How to Engage with The Private Sector in Public-Private Partnerships In Emerging Markets (World Bank 2011)

Flynn S and others, 'Uganda Fiscal Transparency Evaluation' (2017) http://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/CR/2017/cr17130.ashx

Foster V, Overhauling the Engine of Growth: Infrastructure in Africa (The World Bank 2008) http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTPRAL/Resources/africa_country_diagnostic.pdf

- G20/OECD Guidance Note on Diversification of Financial Instruments for Infrastructure and SMEs (OECD 2016)
- http://www.oecd.org/g20/topics/financing-for-investment/G20-OECD-Guidance-Note-Diversification-Financial-Instruments.pdf
- G20/OECD High Level Principles of Long-Term Investment Financing by Institutional Investors (OECD 2013)

http://www.oecd.org/daf/fin/private-pensions/G20-OECD-Principles-LTI-Financing.pdf

- 'Guidance on PPP Contractual Provisions, 2017 Edition | Public Private Partnership' (*Ppp.worldbank.org*, 2017)
- <https://ppp.worldbank.org/public-private-partnership/library/guidance-on-ppp-contractualprovisions-2017-edition>

Hart O, Incomplete Contracts and Control (2017)

https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/hart/files/incomplete_contracts...

- Inderst G, F Stewart, 'Institutional Investment in Infrastructure in Emerging Markets and Developing Economies' (*Library.pppknowledgelab.org*, 2014) https://library.pppknowledgelab.org/PPIAF/documents/1918
- 'Infrastructure Financing in Sub-Saharan Africa: Best Practices from Ten Years in the Field' (2017)
- https://www.africafc.org/Publications/Publications-Documents/BCG-Report-Africa-May-2017-Electronic-v12-may.aspx

Infrastructure Financing Instruments and Incentives (OECD 2015)

- http://www.oecd.org/finance/private-pensions/Infrastructure-Financing-Instruments-and-Incentives.pdf
- 'Infrastructure Transforming Economies Changing Lives-PIDG Annual Report' (*Pidg.org*, 2016) <u>http://www.pidg.org/resource-library/annual-reports/pidg-annual-report-2016.pdf</u>
- Leigland J, A Roberts, 'The African Project Preparation Gap: Africans Address a Critical Limiting Factor in Infrastructure Investment' (*Library.pppknowledgelab.org*, 2007) <u>https://library.pppknowledgelab.org/PPIAF/documents/3012</u>
- Leigland J, 'The Rise and Fall of Brownfield Concessions but Some Signs of Recovery after a Decade of Decline' (*Citeseerx.ist.psu.edu*, 2018)

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10.1.1.642.1751

- Maurer K, Mobilization of Long-Term Savings for Infrastructure Financing in Africa (2017)
- Mawejje JE Munyambonera, *Financing Infrastructure Development in Uganda* (Economic Policy Research Centre 2017)

http://www.eprcug.org

Ministry of Local Government, 'Public Private Partnerships Guidelines for Local Governments'

- Mirabile M, V Marchal, R Baron, 'Technical Note on Estimates of Infrastructure Investment Needs' (*Oecd.org*, 2017)
- https://www.oecd.org/env/cc/g20-climate/Technical-note-estimates-of-infrastructureinvestment-needs.pdf

'Moody's Affirms Uganda's B2 Ratings, Maintains Stable Outlook' (Moodys.com, 2018)

https://www.moodys.com/research/Moodys-affirms-Ugandas-B2-ratings-maintains-stableoutlook--PR_380511

Niehuss J, International Project Finance in a Nutshell (West Academic Publishing 2015)

Office of the Auditor general, 'Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements of Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development for the Financial Year Ended 30th June 2017' (2017)

http://www.oag.go.ug/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/MINISTRY-OF-FINANCE-PLANNING-AND-ECONOMIC-DEVELOPMENT-REPORT-OF-THE-AUDITOR-GENERAL-2017..pdf

Preqin Special Report: Infrastructure Transaction Activity (2014)

- http://docs.preqin.com/reports/Preqin_Special_Report_Infrastructure_Deals_February_2014.p df
- 'Public-Private Partnerships for Transportation in the APEC Region an Analysis and Literature Review' (2017)

https://www.apec.org/publications?pub_id=1807

'Public-Private Partnerships Reference Guide - Version 3 - OECD' (Oecd.org, 2018)

http://www.oecd.org/gov/world-bank-public-private-partnerships-reference-guide-version-3.htm

R. D.C and Y.J, Institutional Investors and Infrastructure Financing (36th edn, OECD 2013)

- <hhttp://www.oecd.org/pensions/privatepensions/G20reportLTFinancingForGrowthRussian Presidency2013.pdf>
- Ruiters C, M P Matji, 'Public–Private Partnership Conceptual Framework and Models for the Funding and Financing of Water Services Infrastructure in Municipalities from Selected Provinces in South Africa' (*http://www.wrc.org.za*)

http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v42i2.13

- Sebudde:rsebudde@worldbank.o 0, 'Uganda Economic Update : 9Th Edition Infrastructure Finance Deficit: Can Public-Private Partnerships Fill The Gap?' (*Documents.worldbank.org*, 2017) <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/261811498801726339</u>
- Sekitoleko I, 'Leveraging Regional Capital Markets to Finance Uganda's Infrastructure Projects' (2018)

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3182243

'The Africa Competitiveness Report 2017' (*The World Economic Forum*, 2017) https://www.weforum.org/reports/africa-competitiveness-report-2017

- 'The Global Competitiveness Report 2017-2018' (*World Economic Forum*, 2017) https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-competitiveness-report-2017-2018
- The Infrastructure Consortium for Africa, 'Infrastructure Financing Trends in Africa-2016' (2016)
- Tomoko M, H Odo, Review of Risk Mitigation Instruments for Infrastructure Financing and Recent Trends and Developments (The World Bank 2007)
- Trends, Challenges and Future: Capital Projects and Infrastructure in East Africa, Southern Africa and West Africa (PwC Africa 2014)

http://www.pwc.co.za/infrastructure

'Uganda Economic Outlook' (PwC, 2018)

https://www.pwc.com/ug/en/publications/economic-outlook.html

- Yescombe E, Principles of Project Finance (2nd edn, Academic Press 2014)
- Yescombe E, Public-Private Partnerships: Principles of Policy and Finance (Elsevier Finance) (1st edn, Elsevier Science 2007)
- '2017 Article IV Consultation and Eighth Review Under the Policy Support Instrument-Press Release; Staff Report; and Statement by the Executive Director for Uganda' (2017) http://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/CR/2017/cr17206.ashx

2017 Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) ANNUAL REPORT (2017) http://ppi.worldbank.org/.../Documents/Global-Notes/PPI_2017_AnnualReport.pdf

'2017 Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) ANNUAL REPORT' (*Ppi.worldbank.org*, 2017) <u>http://ppi.worldbank.org/~/media/GIAWB/PPI/Documents/Global-Notes/PPI_2017_AnnualReport.pdf</u>